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CORPORATE PROFILE
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Time Watch Investments Limited 
(the “Company” or “Time 
Watch”) and its subsidiaries 
(collectively, the “Group”) are 
the leading manufacturer, brand-
owner and retailer of watches in 
the People’s Republic of China 
(“PRC”) national brand watch 
market. Established in 1988, the 
Group’s core proprietary brand, 
Tian Wang (天王), has been 
developed into a well-known 
brand in the PRC. Tian Wang was 
the top national watch brand in 
the PRC in 2011, with a market 
share of approximately 11.1% in 
terms of retail sales value among 
approximately 130 national watch 
brands. Tian Wang was also the 
top national watch brand in the 
mid-end watch market in the PRC 
in terms of both retail sales value 
and retail sales volume in 2011. 
Another proprietary brand of the 
Group, Balco (拜戈), which was 
initially registered in Switzerland 
in 1986 by an independent third 
party and acquired by the Group 
in 2002, offers Swiss-made 
watches targeting younger mid-
income consumers in the PRC.

Tian Wang Watches

2014 resulTs aT a GlanCe

Profit attributable to owners of the Company:

336.8 million  (2014: HK$309.9m) +8.7%

eBiTDa:

545.3 million  (2014: HK$467.0m)  +16.8%

equity attributable to owners of the Company:

1,630.1 million  (2014: HK$1,434.8m) +13.6%

earnings per share – basic:

16.2 cents  (2014: HK14.9 cents) +8.7%

return on average equity attributable to owners of the Company:

22.0%   (2014: 22.8%) -3.5%

Current ratio:

5.9 (2014: 5.5) +7.3%

average inventory turnover days:

253 days (2014: 217 days) +16.6%
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Each moment in history 
is a fleeting time, 
precious and unique. 

Richard Nixon
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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FinanCial suMMarY

The following is a summary of the published results of the Group for the last five financial years. The financial 
information for the years ended 30 June 2013, 2014 and 2015 is extracted from the consolidated financial 
statements in the annual report for the year ended 30 June 2014 and this annual report while such information 
for the years ended 30 June 2011 and 2012 is extracted from the prospectus of the Company dated 24 January 
2013.

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
For the year ended 30 June HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 1,189,325 1,524,779 1,912,235 2,402,358 2,652,625
Gross profit 695,385 918,460 1,159,357 1,561,313 1,807,405
Gross margin 58.5% 60.2% 60.6% 65.0% 68.1%
Profit attributable to owners of the Company 134,603 184,093 213,551 309,890 336,755
Profit attributable to owners of the Company
 (excluding listing expenses) 134,603 202,023 239,291 309,890 336,755

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
as at 30 June HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Total assets 940,721 972,423 1,620,275 1,850,687 2,055,747
Total liabilities 472,293 557,475 287,827 347,796 359,896
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 452,015 377,119 1,286,488 1,434,770 1,630,147
Average inventory turnover days (days) 197 231 220 217 253
Average trade receivables turnover days (days) 44 49 55 56 55
Average trade payables turnover days (days) 63 63 55 49 51
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

average trade payables turnover days

average inventory turnover days
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arnold H. Glasgow

Success is simple. 
Do what’s right, 
the right way, 
at the right time.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

reVieW oF THe FinanCial Year enDeD 
30 June 2015

On behalf of Time Watch Investments Limited (the 
“Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the 
“Group”), I am pleased to present the Group’s annual 
results for the financial year ended 30 June 2015 
(“FY2015”). During the year under review, the Group 
generated a total revenue of approximately HK$2,652.6 
million, representing a growth of approximately 10.4% 
as compared with that in the previous year. Profit 
attributable to owners of the Company increased 
by approximately 8.7% to approximately HK$336.8 
million with an earnings per share of HK16.2 cents. 
The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) 
of the Company has resolved to recommend the 
payment of a final dividend of HK3 cents per share of 
the Company, representing a payout of approximately 
18.5% of the profit attributable to owners of the 
Company, which is subject to shareholders’ approval in 
the coming annual general meeting of the Company.

In FY2015, growth of China’s economy continues 
to decelerate. With the backdrop of economic 
restructuring in Mainland China, the consumer 
sentiment was affected generally. Attributed to the 
successful marketing strategy for the Group own 
proprietary brand, Tian Wang (天王) and Balco (拜
戈), successful penetration and expansion of point of 
sales (“POS”) into second-, third- and lower tier cities, 
and launching of online sales platform, the Group 
maintained a steady growth in revenue and profit. As 
of end of FY2015, the Group has 2,805 POS (2014: 
2,490 POS) in Hong Kong and China.

Continue enhancement of the Group’s Data Centre has 
provided timely market information as well as the most 
updated sales and inventories movement in no time. 
Those timely data and information help the Group 
to formulate reaction plan and strategy to respond 
to rapid market changes and help understanding of 
customer’s need.

Over the past 25 years, the Group keeps its effort 
in improvement and betterment of its watch pieces. 
With the devotion of immense effort, hard work and 
concentration in manufacturing of quality watch pieces 
with reasonable price, the Group’s own proprietary 
brands, Tian Wang (天王) and Balco (拜戈), occupy 
stable share in Mainland China market. To capture the 
demand of quality watch piece in consumer market, 
the Group is committed to develop and optimize 
product design, and to diversify product profile. 
The Group will put effort in product design and 
development, production and quality control and after-
sale service continuously. To facilitate online sales, the 
Group will strengthen its online sales platform as well 
as its logistics flow. For future development of the 
Group, the Group has acquired a piece of land with a 
gross floor area of 6,316 sq.m. located in Shenzhen as 
its future production base.

In long run, it is believed ongoing urbanization will be 
a key driver of the growth of consumer market and 
economic growth. So the Group will adopt a prudent 
and pragmatic strategy in launching of new and quality 
watch pieces, and expanding of POS in second-, third- 
and lower tier cities. We strive to increase market share 
in the mid to low-end watch market in China and to 
achieve sustainable return to our shareholders.

Last but not least, I would like to express my sincere 
gratitude to our shareholders, the board of directors, 
our staff and business partners for their continued 
support.

Mr. Tung Koon Ming
Chairman

Hong Kong, 22 September 2015



It’s really clear that 
the most precious resource 
we all have is time. 

Steve Jobs
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION 
AND ANALYSIS

Effective retail management 
through the Group’s directly 
managed sales network

number of Pos of the Group as at 30 June, 2015

Tian Wang Balco Other Brands Total

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014

Sales regions in Tier I cities

Beijing 106 102 30 37   136 139

Shanghai 86 83 38 41 23 26 147 150

Shenzhen 99 87 6 7 105 94

Guangzhou 86 74 19 27 105 101

377 346 93 112 23 26 493 484

Sales regions in Tier II & other cities

Top five sales regions

Chengdu 101 95 58 69 12 13 171 177

Zhengzhou 120 95 32 28 152 123

Jinan 105 98 18 27 123 125

Shenyang 79 79 16 17 95 96

Changchun 83 62 12 9 95 71

Other sales regions 1370 1125 244 230 62 59 1676 1414

1858 1554 380 380 74 72 2312 2006

Total No. of POS 2235 1900 473 492 97 98 2805 2490

●　Extensive sales network covering 30 of 31 Provinces in the PRC
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION 
AND ANALYSIS

Eastern China
908

Central China
374

Southern China
280

South Western China
369

North Eastern China
351

 Northern China
360

North Western China
163

Number of POS of the Group as at 30 June 2015
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION 
AND ANALYSIS

FinanCial reVieW

revenue

Revenue of the Group increased by approximately HK$250.3 million or approximately 10.4% from approximately 
HK$2,402.4 million for the year ended 30 June 2014 (“FY2014”) to approximately HK$2,652.6 million for 
FY2015.

Tian Wang Watches

Sales of Tian Wang watches continued to be the Group’s main source of revenue which accounted for 
approximately 72.0% of the total revenue of the Group for FY2015 (FY2014: approximately 69.3%). Sales 
of Tian Wang watches recorded a revenue of approximately HK$1,909.8 million for FY2015, representing an 
increase of approximately HK$244.7 million or approximately 14.7% as compared with approximately HK$1,665.2 
million for FY2014. The growth during FY2015 was mainly driven by (i) the expansion of the retail network by 
approximately 17.6% from 1,900 POS as at 30 June 2014 to 2,235 POS as at 30 June 2015; and (ii) the rapid 
growth in sales of watches through e-commerce channels by approximately HK$53.3 million or approximately 
30.1% from approximately HK$176.8 million for FY2014 to approximately HK$230.1 million for FY2015.

Balco Watches

Sales of Balco watches increased by approximately HK$37.8 million or approximately 22.5% from approximately 
HK$168.1 million for FY2014 to approximately HK$206.0 million for FY2015, which accounted for approximately 
7.8% of the total revenue of the Group for FY2015 (FY2014: approximately 7.0%). The increase was primarily 
due to the increase in sales to multi-brand watch distributors in Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan by approximately 
HK$21.8 million or approximately 46.7% from approximately HK$46.7 million for FY2014 to approximately 
HK$68.5 million for FY2015.

Other Brands Watches

Sales of other well-known branded watches other than Tian Wang and Balco brands (“Other Brands”) watches 
increased by approximately HK$20.0 million or approximately 6.5% from approximately HK$306.6 million for 
FY2014 to approximately HK$326.7 million for FY2015 which accounted for approximately 12.3% of the total 
revenue of the Group for FY2015 (FY2014: approximately 12.8%). The increase in sales of Other Brands watches 
was primarily attributed to (i) the contribution of revenue from a joint venture company, namely, Time Watch 
(Shanghai) Timepieces Company Limited (“Time Watch Shanghai”) of approximately HK$57.2 million for FY2015 
(FY2014: approximately HK$48.0 million) and (ii) the contribution of revenue of approximately HK$32.3 million 
for 2015 (FY2014: approximately HK$15.2 million) from another joint venture company established in December 
2013, namely, Time Watch (Chengdu) Company Limited (“Time Watch Chengdu”).

Watch Movements Trading Business

Revenue from trading of watch movements (the “Watch Movements Trading Business”) accounted for 
approximately 7.9% of the Group’s total revenue for FY2015 (FY2014: approximately 10.9%). For FY2015, 
revenue from trading of watch movements was approximately HK$210.2 million, representing a decrease of 
approximately HK$52.2 million or approximately 19.9% from approximately HK$262.4 million for FY2014. The 
decrease was primarily due to the fact that less watch movements were available for selling to external customers 
after allocation of watch movements to the production of the Group’s Tian Wang watches.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION 
AND ANALYSIS

Gross Profit

The Group’s gross profit increased by approximately HK$246.1 million or approximately 15.8% from approximately 
HK$1,561.3 million for FY2014 to approximately HK$1,807.4 million for FY2015, while the gross profit margin 
increased to approximately 68.1% for FY2015 from approximately 65.0% for FY2014. The increase in gross profit 
and the improvement in gross profit margin were primarily due to the increase in sales contribution of Tian Wang 
watches from approximately 69.3% for FY2014 to approximately 72.0% for FY2015 of the Group’s total revenue, 
as well as the improvement in gross profit margin of Tian Wang watches from approximately 79.3% for FY2014 
to approximately 80.9% for FY2015, which was a result of an increase in sales of regular-priced watch models.

other income, Gains and losses

The Group’s other income, gains and losses decreased from approximately HK$15.6 million for FY2014 
to approximately HK$6.2 million for FY2015, representing a decrease of approximately HK$9.4 million or 
approximately 60.2%. This was primarily due to (i) the increase in allowance for doubtful debts of approximately 
HK$10.1 million and (ii) the increase in loss on disposal and written-off of property, plant and equipment of 
approximately HK$3.2 million.

selling and Distribution Costs

The Group’s selling and distribution costs increased by approximately HK$167.2 million or approximately 16.1% 
from approximately HK$1,040.2 million for FY2014 to approximately HK$1,207.4 million for FY2015, which 
accounted for approximately 45.5% of the Group’s total revenue for FY2015 (FY2014: approximately 43.3%). 
The increase was mainly due to (i) the increase in concessionaire and rental fees by approximately HK$67.7 
million as a result of an increase in revenue and number of POS; (ii) the increase in salaries of sales personnel 
by approximately HK$55.7 million as a result of an increase in number of sales staff, which was in line with the 
increase of number of POS and the increase of sales commissions together with the increase of revenue; (iii) the 
increase in advertising and promotion fees by approximately HK$25.1 million; and (iv) the increase in other sales 
related costs such as depreciation, packing, entertainment expenses, service charges and management fee by 
approximately HK$18.7 million, which were in line with the Group’s market expansion strategy.

administrative expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses increased to approximately HK$125.4 million for FY2015 from approximately 
HK$113.7 million for FY2014, representing an increase of approximately HK$11.8 million or approximately 10.4%. 
The increase was primarily due to the increase in salaries for administrative staff of approximately HK$4.1 million.

Finance Costs and income Tax expenses

The Group’s finance costs decreased by approximately HK$0.7 million or approximately 52.8% from approximately 
HK$1.3 million for FY2014 to approximately HK$0.6 million for FY2015 as a result of a decrease in bank 
borrowings during FY2015. The Group’s income tax expenses increased from approximately HK$106.7 million 
for FY2014 to approximately HK$147.9 million for FY2015, representing an increase of approximately HK$41.2 
million or approximately 38.6%. The Group’s effective tax rate increased from approximately 25.3% for FY2014 
to approximately 30.8% for FY2015.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION 
AND ANALYSIS

Profit for the Year

As a result of the factors discussed above, the Group’s net profit for FY2015 increased by approximately HK$17.1 
million or approximately 5.4% from approximately HK$315.1 million for FY2014 to approximately HK$332.2 
million for FY2015. The net profit margin decreased from approximately 13.1% for FY2014 to approximately 
12.5% for FY2015.

Business reVieW

overview

During FY2015, the Group’s principal business remained manufacture and retail sales of its two proprietary 
brands watches (namely, Tian Wang and Balco watches), retail sales of Other Brands watches in the PRC and its 
ancillary Watch Movements Trading Business.

Notwithstanding the continued weakness in the global economy throughout FY2015, the Group achieved a 
sales growth of approximately 10.4% over the last year. FY2015 was a year full of challenges and uncertainties 
for the PRC watch industry. Since watches are not a necessity to daily lives, its market demand is particularly 
sensitive to changes in economic conditions and consumer confidence. The overall performance of the Group 
for the year was, to a certain extent, affected by the declining confidence among domestic consumers in the 
PRC, resulting in a slower growth in sales and downward pressure on profitability. Nevertheless, building on its 
competitive advantages developed over years, the Group continued to maintain its leading position in the PRC 
national watch market.

Tian Wang watches continues to be the Group’s core brand business, which contributed approximately 72.0% of 
the total revenue of the Group during FY2015. Its over-25-year long brand heritage and reputation of delivering 
high quality and precise watches are key factors of Tian Wang watches’ continued success and widespread brand 
recognition. Based on the information gathered from customers through the Group’s national wide POS network, 
the Group can strive to cater to Chinese customers’ increasing demand for high quality and trendy watches.

retail network

The Group’s retail network principally comprises sales counters located in department stores which are directly 
managed and controlled by the Group. Over 84% of the Group’s sales of Tian Wang and Balco watches were 
made through the Group’s directly managed POS. Since the Group sells most of its watches to its retail customers 
directly, the Group has been able to obtain first hand market information and direct feedback from customers 
through its frontline staff. The Group considers that this is the Group’s competitive advantage over its competitors, 
which generally do not have fully direct managed sales network but sell their products through distributors.

As at 30 June 2015, number of the Group’s POS for Tian Wang watches was 2,235 POS, representing a net 
increase of 335 POS as compared to the number of POS for Tian Wang watches as at 30 June 2014. As at 30 
June 2015, number of the Group’s POS for Balco watches was 473 POS, representing a net decrease of 19 POS 
as compared to the number of POS for Balco watches as at 30 June 2014. As at 30 June 2015, number of the 
Group’s POS for Other Brands watches was 97 POS, representing a net decrease of 1 POS as compared to the 
number of POS for Other Brands watches as at 30 June 2014.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION 
AND ANALYSIS

Proprietary Watches of the Group

Tian Wang Watches

Sales of Tian Wang watches remained the Group’s major source of revenue, which contributed approximately 
72.0% of the Group’s total revenue for FY2015 (FY2014: approximately 69.3%). For FY2015, revenue from Tian 
Wang watches was approximately HK$1,909.8 million as compared with approximately HK$1,665.2 million for 
FY2014, representing an increase of approximately HK$244.7 million or approximately 14.7%. During FY2015, the 
Group has launched not less than 100 new models of Tian Wang watches with price ranging from approximately 
RMB100 to RMB20,000 per watch for direct retail sales, corporate sales and e-commerce channels. The wide 
price range of Tian Wang watches allowed the Group to cater for the different needs of customers, and allowed 
the Group to capture more demand from customers of different income level.

Balco Watches

Balco watches are assembled and imported from Switzerland. The Group faces keen competition from other 
imported watches of similar price range, including Citizen, Casio, Titoni and Enicar. Sales of Balco watches 
accounted for approximately 7.8% of the Group’s total revenue for FY2015 (FY2014: approximately 7.0%). For 
FY2015, revenue from Balco watches was approximately HK$206.0 million as compared with approximately 
HK$168.1 million for FY2014, representing an increase of approximately HK$37.8 million or approximately 22.5%. 
There was an increase in sales of Balco watches in the PRC by approximately HK$16.0 million or approximately 
13.2% from approximately HK$121.5 million for FY2014 to approximately HK$137.5 million for FY2015. There 
was an increase of approximately HK$21.8 million or approximately 46.7% in the sales of Balco watches to Hong 
Kong, Macau and Taiwan through multi-brand watches distributors. Revenue from these sales increased from 
approximately HK$46.7 million for FY2014 to approximately HK$68.5 million for FY2015.

Other Brands Watches

Revenue from sales of Other Brands watches was approximately HK$326.7 million for FY2015 as compared 
with approximately HK$306.6 million for FY2014, representing an increase of approximately HK$20.0 million or 
approximately 6.5%. Revenue from sales of Other Brands watches accounted for approximately 12.3% of the 
Group’s total revenue for FY2015 (FY2014: approximately 12.8%). The increase in sales of Other Brands watches 
was mainly contributed by the increase in revenue from Time Watch Shanghai and Time Watch Chengdu.

Watch Movements Trading Business

The Directors consider that the in-house watch movements procurement and trading arm of the Group is an 
integral segment of the Group’s overall business operation for providing reliable and stable supply of watch 
movements for the assembly of its Tian Wang watches and bringing revenue to the Group through its Watch 
Movements Trading Business with other watch manufacturers and distributors when there is a surplus of watch 
movements which are not used for the Group’s manufacture of watches for its Tian Wang Watch Business. For 
FY2015, sales of watch movements accounted for approximately 7.9% of the Group’s total revenue (FY2014: 
approximately 10.9%). There was a decrease in sales of approximately HK$52.2 million or approximately 19.9% 
from approximately HK$262.4 million for FY2014 to approximately HK$210.2 million for FY2015.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION 
AND ANALYSIS

e-commerce Business

In March 2013, the Company established a 70%-owned subsidiary, Shenzhen Time Watch Trading Company 
Limited (“Shenzhen Time Watch”), which entered into operation agreements with several online sales platform 
(including but not limited to Paipai (Tencent QQ), Jingdong mall and Tmall) and offered sales of lower-priced 
watches and new youth series watches products for younger generation in order to capture their rising 
consumption power. The Directors believe that a wide variety of watches will enable the Group to reach out 
to an extensive range of customers across different age groups. For FY2015, there was a significant increase in 
sales of watches through e-commerce channels by approximately HK$53.3 million or approximately 30.1% from 
approximately HK$176.8 million for FY2014 to approximately HK$230.1 million for FY2015.

inVenTorY ConTrol

The Group’s inventory balance was approximately HK$615.5 million as at 30 June 2015, representing an increase 
of approximately HK$59.5 million or approximately 10.7% as compared with approximately HK$556.0 million as 
at 30 June 2014. The increase was mainly due to the increase in the Group’s inventory balance of Balco finished 
watches from approximately HK$64.4 million as at 30 June 2014 to approximately HK$90.6 million as at 30 
June 2015. The Group’s inventory turnover days increased to approximately 253 days for FY2015, as compared 
with 217 days for FY2014. The Group will continue to monitor and control its inventory level vigilantly while 
implementing its sales network expansion plan in order to ensure that the expansion plan and inventory level 
will not adversely affect the cash flow and liquidity of the Group. The inventory quantities per Tian Wang, Balco 
and Other Brands POS were approximately 474, 298 and 621, respectively, as at 30 June 2015 (30 June 2014: 
approximately 562 (Tian Wang), 206 (Balco) and 566 (Other Brands)).

The inventory aged over two years were approximately HK$94.5 million and approximately HK$78.6 million 
as at 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2014 respectively, with corresponding provision for these inventory balances 
of approximately HK$59.6 million and approximately HK$44.0 million, respectively. The management assesses 
and reviews the inventory ageing analysis at the end of each reporting period and identifies the slow-moving 
inventory items that are no longer suitable for the use in production or sales. At the end of each reporting 
period, the management will provide necessary provision if the net realisable value of the inventory is estimated 
to be below the cost.

liquiDiTY, FinanCial resourCes anD CaPiTal sTruCTure

The Group adopts a conservative treasury policy. The Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash 
equivalents deemed adequate by management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of 
unexpected fluctuations in cash flows.

The Group financed its operations primarily through cash flows from operations and short-term bank loans. The 
cash and cash equivalents were approximately HK$550.5 million and approximately HK$660.1 million as at 30 
June 2015 and 30 June 2014 respectively.

The Group’s net cash generated from operating activities for FY2015 was approximately HK$331.0 million, 
representing an increase of approximately HK$115.0 million from approximately HK$215.9 million for FY2014. 
The amount was primarily attributable to profit before taxation of approximately HK$480.1 million from the 
Group’s operations adjusted for non-cash items of approximately HK$89.3 million, increase of working capital 
balances of approximately HK$111.9 million, income taxes paid of approximately HK$139.1 million and interest 
received of approximately HK$12.6 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION 
AND ANALYSIS

The Group’s net cash used in investing activities for FY2015 was approximately HK$294.7 million, which was 
mainly attributable to purchase of property, plant and equipment of approximately HK$122.3 million and 
structured deposits placed of approximately HK$125.1 million.

The Group’s net cash used in financing activities for FY2015 was approximately HK$146.4 million, which was 
mainly attributable to dividends paid of approximately HK$145.6 million and repayment of bank borrowings of 
approximately HK$220.9 million, which was partially offset by borrowings raised of approximately HK$219.0 
million, contribution from non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries of approximately HK$6.0 million. The 
Group’s bank borrowings were approximately HK$34.1 million and approximately HK$36.0 million as at 30 June 
2015 and 30 June 2014 respectively.

The Group has a net cash position as at 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2014. As at 30 June 2015, the Group’s 
total equity was approximately HK$1,695.9 million, representing an increase of approximately HK$193.0 million 
from approximately HK$1,502.9 million as at 30 June 2014. The Group’s working capital was approximately 
HK$1,509.4 million as at 30 June 2015, representing an increase of approximately HK$113.4 million as compared 
with approximately HK$1,396.0 million as at 30 June 2014.

As at 30 June 2015, the Group’s bank balances and cash were mainly denominated in Renminbi. As at 30 June 
2015, all the Group’s bank borrowings were short term bank borrowings that were principally denominated in 
Hong Kong dollar and Swiss Franc, were subject to variable interest rates and were repayable within one year.

The gearing ratio being calculated as total debt over total equity was approximately 2.0% and approximately 
2.4% as at 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2014, respectively.

Details of the Group’s bank borrowings as at 30 June 2015 are set out in note 23 to this annual report.

CHarGe on GrouP asseTs

There was no material charge on the Group’s assets as at 30 June 2015 and 2014.

ConTinGenT liaBiliTies

The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2015 and 2014.

CaPiTal CoMMiTMenTs

The Group did not have any material capital commitments as at 30 June 2015 and 2014.

ForeiGn CurrenCY exPosure

The Group has foreign currency sales, which expose itself to foreign currency risk. In addition, certain trade and 
other receivables, bank balances, other payables and accrued charges, and bank borrowings of the Group and 
intra-group balances are denominated in foreign currencies of the relevant group entities.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, management of the Group 
monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the 
need arise.
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eMPloYees anD eMoluMenTs PoliCies

As at 30 June 2015, the Group employed a total of approximately 4,600 full time employees (30 June 2014: 
approximately 4,300) engaging in design, purchasing, production, sales and marketing and administration. The 
staff costs incurred during FY2015 was approximately HK$386.0 million (FY2014: approximately HK$322.6 
million). The Group’s emolument policies are formulated on the performance of individual employees and on 
the basis of the trends of salaries in various regions, which will be reviewed regularly every year. Apart from 
provident fund scheme and medical insurance, discretionary bonuses are also awarded to employees according 
to the assessment of individual performance.

soCial resPonsiBiliTY

The Group’s charitable and other donations for FY2015 amounted to approximately HK$1.6 million (FY2014: 
approximately HK$64,200), which is used to sponsor and promote the education of the youth. No donations 
were made to political parties.

use oF ProCeeDs FroM THe CoMPanY’s iniTial PuBliC oFFerinG

The net proceeds from the initial public offering (“IPO”) of the Company in February 2013 amounted to 
approximately HK$742.0 million, of which approximately HK$362.1 million had been utilized for the year ended 
30 June 2013 (“FY2013”) and FY2014. For FY2015, the Company had further utilized approximately HK$93.2 
million of the proceeds in the manner set out in the following table.

amount of 
net 

proceeds 
allocated 

and 
unutilised 

as at 
1 July 2014

amount of 
net 

proceeds 
utilised for 

FY2015

Balance 
as at 

30 June 
2015

actual business 
progress up to 30 June 2015

(HK$’m) (HK$’m) (HK$’m)

Opening of approximately 200 POS in 
each of the years ending 30 June 
2014, 2015, 2016, 2017 and 2018

124.7 57.2 67.5 Approximately HK$57.2 million 
of IPO proceeds was used for 
opening 200 new POS during 
FY2015.

Establishing joint ventures with 
experienced operators of watch 
sales network and acquiring their 
inventories

126.1 – 126.1 The Group had been looking for 
experienced operators for co-
operation.
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amount of 
net 

proceeds 
allocated 

and 
unutilised 

as at 
1 July 2014

amount of 
net 

proceeds 
utilised for 

FY2015

Balance 
as at 

30 June 
2015

actual business 
progress up to 30 June 2015

(HK$’m) (HK$’m) (HK$’m)

Marketing and promotional activities 
for Tian Wang for the years ending 
30 June 2014, 2015 and 2016 
including (i) engaging an active 
and well-known Chinese television 
and movie actor celebrity as the 
new spokesperson for Tian Wang 
brand; (ii) production of television 
commercials focusing on the new 
Tian Wang spokesperson; and 
(iii) rolling-out advertisement on 
television and various other media

104.0 36.0 68.0 As at 30 June 2015, approximately 
HK$36.0 million of IPO proceeds 
was used for rolling-out 
advertisement on television and 
various other media. The Group is 
still looking for suitable candidate 
whose image is in line with the 
brand image and recognition 
of Tian Wang brand and the 
proposed large-scale nationwide 
marketing campaign for Tian 
Wang brand.

Enhancing product design and 
development capabilities

25.1 – 25.1 The Group has been looking for 
international designer to enhance 
product design and has not 
identified suitable candidate.

ToTal 379.9 93.2 286.7

Actual application of the net proceeds, except for opening of POS was lower as compared to the planned 
application due to the reasons as explained above and/or the weak economic condition and declining confidence 
among domestic consumers in the PRC.
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CHanGe oF use oF ProCeeDs

The Group has been monitoring the use of net proceeds from the IPO. As at 30 June 2015, the Group has an 
unutilised balance of the net proceeds of approximately HK$67.5 million for the opening of new POS, which 
was just sufficient for the Group to open POS in the coming two years ending 30 June 2016 and 2017. In view 
of the need to expand the Group’s sales network in order to capture the market growth in the future, the 
Board has decided to reallocate approximately HK$99.2 million of the net proceeds to the opening of new POS. 
Among the approximately HK$99.2 million to be reallocated, (i) approximately HK$46.1 million is reallocated 
from the establishment of joint venture as the Board believes that the remaining sum of approximately HK$80.0 
million is sufficient for the Group to establish joint ventures worldwide in future; (ii) approximately HK$28.0 
million is reallocated from the marketing and promotional activities for Tian Wang because the remaining sum of 
approximately HK$40.0 million is sufficient for the Group to carry out such marketing and promotional activities; 
and (iii) approximately HK$25.1 million is reallocated from the enhancement of product design and development 
capacities of joint venture as the Group currently has a design and development team which the Group believes 
that the team is fully capable of handling the most complex design and development challenges.

In order to increase the flexibility of implementing its plan of opening POS, establishing joint-ventures and 
carrying on marketing and promotional activities, the Board has decided, respectively, to (i) delete the timing 
requirements for the opening of POS in the years ending 30 June 2016, 2017 and 2018; (ii) allow the use of net 
proceeds on establishing joint ventures worldwide; and (iii) delete the specific requirements for the use of certain 
amounts in engaging spokesperson, production of television commercial for the spokesperson and rolling-out 
of advertisement on television and various other media.
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Following the reallocation, the unutilised net proceeds from the IPO will be used in the following manner:

intended use of the net 
proceeds as set out in 
the 2014 annual report

Balance as at 
30 June 2015 

(HK$’m)
revised intended use of 
the net proceeds

revised 
amount of the 

net proceeds 
allocated 

(HK$’m)

Opening of approximately 200 POS in 
each of the years ending 30 June 2016, 
2017 and 2018

67.5 Opening of POS in the  
coming years

166.7

Establishing joint ventures with 
experienced operators of watch sales 
network and acquiring their inventories

126.1 Establishing joint ventures 
worldwide with experienced 
operators of watch sales 
network and acquiring their 
inventories

80.0

Marketing and promotional activities 
for Tian Wang for the year ending 30 
June 2014, 2015 and 2016 including 
(i) engaging an active and well-known 
Chinese television and movie actor 
celebrity as the new brand spokesperson 
for Tian Wang watches, (ii) production 
of the television commercials focusing 
on the new Tian Wang spokesperson; 
and (iii) rolling-out advertisement on 
television and various other media

68.0 Engaging an active and  
well-known television and 
movie actor celebrity as the 
new brand spokesperson 
for Tian Wang watches and 
for producing television 
commercials focusing on the 
spokesperson

40.0

Enhancing product design and 
development capabilities

25.1 Nil Nil

TOTAL 286.7 286.7

The Board is of the view that the partial change in the use of the net proceeds from the IPO is fair and reasonable 
and is in the interest of the Company and its shareholders as a whole, allowing the Group to increase its flexibility 
in its financial management and reduce other finance costs to support the Group’s operation and on-going 
expansion.
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PROSPECTS AND STRATEGIES

Despite the weak economic conditions in the PRC and the PRC government’s measures against consumption 
of luxury goods during FY2015, the revenue and profit of the Group continues to achieve steady growth in 
FY2015 as the Group concentrates on the development of the market of low-end and medium-end watches as 
well as youth series watches. During FY2015, the Group has adopted the strategy of steady expansion of its 
retail network by opening new POS in second, third and lower tier cities across the country and has increased its 
efforts in selling new youth series watches products through e-commerce channels. The economic environment 
is likely to be uncertain in the year ending 30 June 2016. The management believes that the strategy of opening 
new POS and increase in investment in e-commerce channels continues to be the major revenue drivers for the 
Group in the coming year.



I am a slow walker ,  
but I never walk backwards. 

Abraham Lincoln  
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The ocean is full of infinite 
mysteries. one will never experience 
the spectacular mystery of the ocean 
until one sails leading the fleet.

life is like an ocean and we are 
the leader sail. inspired by the rich 
culture of maritime navigation, 
Tian Wang Pilot Collection makes 
its market debut with innovative 
design.

The creative bezel design resembles 
a helm that guides one to sail 
through life. The multicolored and 
fashionable dial plate with various 
stripes presents the masterful fusion 
of classical and contemporary style. 
The like business style displays 
sagacity through a minimalist 
design. Featured with Tian Wang’s 
iconic and unique crown-shaped 
second hands, the Collection is 
exquisitely designed to manifest, 
through the light and shadows of 
time casted by the hands, precision, 
details, aesthetics and delicate 
handicraft as well as the bright and 
beautiful life.

Tian Wang Watch
Pilot Collection
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Paddle wheels, or floating wheels, 
are a kind of propeller used in vessels 
and installed on both sides or at the 
stern looking like wheels of a vehicle. 
The outer edge of the wheel is 
fitted with paddle blades. an engine 
rotates the paddle wheel in the water 
to produce thrust forward. Most part 
of the wheel is above the water, 
hence named “floating wheels”. 
accordingly, the design of the Tian 
Wang round Times Collection was 
inspired and initiated.

inheriting British retro style, Tian 
Wang round Times Collection recalls 
the golden age and recreates a new 
classic through simple luxury design. 
Diamonds gracefully studded on the 
dial, which, as time goes by, mark 
the enterprising culture of a time and 
carry forward the British royal and 
noble heritage.

Tian Wang Watch
Round Times Collection
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The 26th shenzhen Watch & Clock Fair was regally opened and held 
at shenzhen Convention and exhibition Center from 25 to 28 June 
2015. More than 400 watch & clock enterprises with over 600 brands 
participated the event and presented their most innovative products 
and technologies.

in its exhibition hall of brand new image, Tian Wang Watches 
showcased the self-developed 2,000-meter water resistant dive 
watches, high-end products under round Times Collection, and other 
classic watch collections. skillfully featured with the marine culture, 
Tian Wang Watches’ new exhibition hall enabled watch fans to 
explore in a time journey of Tian Wang Watches amid the vast and 
mysterious ocean.

Sagacious • Leisurely •  
Time Capture 
2015 Fantastic Maritime 
Journey of Tian Wang Watches
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MAJOR EVENTS

at the 25th anniversary of our 
brand building last year, Tian 
Wang watches launched the first 
cultural tour in the wristwatch 
industry covering numerous 
cities across China. in this year, 
Tian Wang watches set off its 
time journey once again at 
the romantic Double seventh 
Festival (the Chinese equivalent 
of the Valentine’s Day) with its 
unique appeal.

With the presence of famous 
movie and television stars, 
including qiao Zhenyu, Zheng 
Kai and li Jiahang, the Tour 
of Tian Wang Pilot Collection 
Watches was grandly kicked-off 
and run through various cities 
such as Kaifeng (known as the 
“ancient Chinese Capital of eight 
Dynasties”) and Daqing (known 
as the oil Capital of China).

The Tour of Tian Wang
Pilot Collection Watches
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exeCuTiVe DireCTors

Mr. Tung Koon Ming (董觀明), aged 64, is the founder of the Group, Chairman, executive Director and 
chief executive officer of the Company. Mr. Tung is the father of Mr. Tung Wai Kit, an executive Director. He 
was appointed as an executive Director on 21 September 2011. He is responsible for the overall direction, 
management and daily operation of the Group. He is also a director of all subsidiaries of the Group, except for 
Ye Guang Li Electronics (Meizhou) Company Limited (“Ye Guang Li”), Balco Switzerland SAGL, Time Watch Hefei, 
Time Watch Shanghai, Time Watch Sichuan, Time Watch Chengdu, Shenzhen Time Watch, 深圳市半小時商貿有
限公司 (Shenzhen Half Hour Trade and Commercial Limited) (“Half Hour Trade and Commercial”) and 深圳市壹
寸金科技有限公司  (Shenzhen Yi Cun Jin Technology Co. Limited) (“Yi Cun Jin Technology”).

Mr. Tung has over 30 years of experience in the manufacturing and trading of watches business. Mr. Tung is the 
founder and chairman of Winning Metal Products Manufacturing Company Limited (“Winning Metal”) since its 
incorporation in 1980. He has been the chairman, chief executive officer and director of Time Watch Investments 
Private Limited (“Time Watch Singapore”), a company which was listed on the Singapore Stock Exchange (“SGX”) 
until it was privatised in June 2011, since 8 November 2005 after the completion of a reverse take-over of 
Winning Metal group by Time Watch Singapore. Through Winning Metal and Time Watch Singapore, Mr. Tung 
established the Group’s watch movements trading business; developed two brands of watches (namely, Tian 
Wang and Balco) and sales network of the Group in the PRC. Mr. Tung was awarded the Top Ten Persons of the 
Year (十大風雲人物獎) by the China Watch and Clock Top Forum in 2005 and the outstanding entrepreneurship 
award by Enterprise Asia in September 2013. He was also a member of the 8th, 9th and 10th Hunan Province 
People’s Political Consultative Committee since 1998. Apart from his interest in the Group, Mr. Tung is also one 
of the indirect owners of Winning Metal and its subsidiaries and the owner of Red Rewarding Limited. Mr. Tung 
is currently a director of Red Glory Investments Limited, being the controlling shareholder (within the meaning of 
the Rules (the “Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited 
(the “Stock Exchange”)) of the Company.

Mr. Hou qinghai (侯慶海), aged 66, was appointed as an executive Director on 10 January 2013. Mr. Hou is 
responsible for the Group’s daily operation and production of Tian Wang watches. He is currently a director 
and general manager of Ye Guang Li, a director, deputy general manager of Tian Wang Electronics (Shenzhen) 
Company Limited (“Tian Wang Shenzhen”) and a director of Suzhou Paragon.

Mr. Hou has over 20 years of experience in manufacturing of watches. He graduated from Harbin Worker Part-
time University with a diploma in the manufacture of machinery and equipment course in October 1976. In 
July 1990, he joined Tian Wang Electronics Co., Ltd. (a limited liability company incorporated in the PRC on 30 
August 1988 and was dissolved on 1 December 2009, and was indirectly owned as to approximately 98.17% by 
Winning Metal before dissolution) as a deputy general manager in which he was responsible for the production 
of our Tian Wang brand of watches. He continues to work in Tian Wang Shenzhen since 2003. In 2009, he was 
the permanent vice-president of 11th Council of Shenzhen Watch & Clock Association. He is currently the vice 
president of Shenzhen City Watch & Clock Association.
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Mr. Tung Wai Kit (董偉傑), aged 41, was appointed as an executive Director on 21 September 2011. Mr. 
Tung Wai Kit is the son of Mr. Tung Koon Ming, the Chairman, executive Director and chief executive officer 
of Company. Mr. Tung Wai Kit is the Group’s marketing and administrative controller and is responsible for 
the marketing, production and administration of the Group’s brand of Balco. Mr. Tung Wai Kit has over 16 
years of experience in sales and marketing. He is currently a director of Ye Guang Li, Time Watch Hefei, Time 
Watch Shanghai, Time Watch Sichuan, Time Watch Chengdu, Shenzhen Time Watch, Shenzhen Time Watch 
Management Consulting Limited, Half Hour Trade and Commercial and Yi Cun Jin Technology. Mr. Tung Wai Kit 
is currently a director of Time Watch Singapore, an associate of the controlling shareholders (within the meaning 
of Listing Rules) of the Company.

Mr. Deng Guanglei (鄧光磊), aged 45, was appointed as an executive Director on 15 October 2014. Mr. Deng  
graduated in 安徽財貿學院 (Anhui Finance and Trade College) (for identification purpose only) in June 1994. He 
has over 15 years of experience in sales and marketing. He joined 天王電子有限公司 (Tian Wang Electronics Co., 
Ltd.) (“Tian Wang Electronics”) in 1996 as a regional manager of its sales department in which he was responsible 
for the sales and marketing of Tian Wang brand of watches and left in 1998. By the end of 1998, when he 
rejoined Tian Wang Electronics after a temporary departure, he was promoted to be the sales manager of its 
marketing department. Starting from 2004, he started to be assistant general manager and the person-in-charge 
of the sales and marketing department of 天王電子（深圳）有限公司 (Tian Wang Electronics (Shenzhen) Co., 
Ltd.) (“Tian Wang Shenzhen”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. He has been the general manager 
of the sales and marketing department of Tian Wang Shenzhen since September 2007. Mr. Deng is a director 
of Time Watch (Zheng Zhou) Property Management Company Limited, a company indirectly owned as to 84% 
by a controlling shareholder of the Company.

inDePenDenT non-exeCuTiVe DireCTors

Mr. Ma Ching nam, J.P. (馬清楠), aged 62, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 10 
January 2013.

Mr. Ma obtained a degree of Bachelor of Science in Economics with honours from The University of Hull in 
July 1977. Mr. Ma has been practising law for more than 30 years. He is currently a partner of Hastings & Co, 
Solicitors & Notaries and also a Notary Public, China Appointed Attesting Officer and Civil Celebrant.

Mr. Ma currently serves as directors of Heptacontinental group of companies, Ma Kam Ming Company Limited, 
Tai Sang Bank Limited, Ma’s Enterprises Company Limited and Ma Kam Ming Charitable Foundation. Mr. Ma was 
the president of the Hong Kong Society of Notaries from 2007 to 2013. He has been a director and vice chairman 
of Po Leung Kuk since 2009 and 2014 respectively. He has also been appointed a member of Political and 
Consultative Conference in Hunan Province, the PRC and a visiting professor of the China Agricultural University.
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Mr. Wong Wing Keung Meyrick (王泳強), aged 56, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director 
on 10 January 2013.

In August 1987, Mr. Wong obtained his Bachelor of Laws from The University of London as an external student. 
He was called to the degree of utter barrister of the Honourable Society of Gray’s Inn in April 1989. In 1990, he 
started his practice as a barrister-at-law in Hong Kong. Mr. Wong also obtained Master of Laws in international 
economic law from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in December 2009 and Postgraduate Diploma in 
Corporate Governance and Directorship jointly issued by the School of Business, Hong Kong Baptist University 
and The Hong Kong Institute of Directors in June 2011. He obtained a degree in Master of Science in Corporate 
Governance and Directorship (Distinction) issued by the School of Business, Hong Kong Baptist University in 2011. 
He is also a Chartered Engineer, a member of the Institute of Energy, the Institution of Mechanical Engineers 
and the Institution of Engineering and Technology.

From November 2005 to June 2011, he served as an independent non-executive director of the Time Watch 
Singapore, an associate of the controlling shareholders (within the meaning of Listing Rules) of the Company, 
whose shares were listed on the SGX until its delisting in June 2011.

Mr. Choi Ho Yan (蔡浩仁), aged 39, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 10 May 2013. 
Mr. Choi obtained a degree of Bachelor of Arts in Accounting from the University of Hertfordshire in July 1998. 
He has over 17 years of experience in auditing, accounting, corporate finance and investors relations. Mr. Choi 
worked in Ernst and Young as an accountant, and subsequently a senior accountant, from September 1998 
to August 2004. Mr. Choi was an assistant company secretary and a director of Gold Tat Group International 
Limited (formerly known as Mobile Telecom Network (Holdings) Limited), a company whose shares are listed on 
the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8266), until his resignation as both assistant 
company secretary and director on 1 September 2015.

senior ManaGeMenT

Mr. li Yu Zhong (李育忠), aged 49, is the factory general manager of Tian Wang Shenzhen and the head of the 
manufacturing and assembly department of the Group. He is responsible for the manufacturing and assembly 
department of the Group. Mr. Li has more than 20 years of experience in the watch manufacturing business. 
In 2007, he obtained the qualification of watch repair examiner issued by Shenzhen Occupational Skill Testing 
Authority. He graduated from Guangdong Boluo Province Botong Agricultural Vocational School in 1984. Starting 
from 2008, he becomes a committee member of Materials and External Watch Parts Subcommittee on National 
Technical Committee on Watches of Standardisation Administration of China.
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Ms. Cheung Mei Chu, Clara (張美珠), aged 41, is the chief financial officer of the Group with effect from 
1 March 2014. Ms. Cheung is a Certified Public Accountant of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants and a Fellow Member of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in the United Kingdom 
since 2000. She has obtained a Master Degree in Business Administration from The Hong Kong University of 
Science and Technology in 2006. Prior to joining the Company, she was the Chief Financial Officer and Finance 
Director of Regent Pacific Group Limited which is a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange 
of Hong Kong Limited (stock code: 575), since March 2002 and January 2004 respectively. She has also gained 
extensive experience in auditing and accounting during her service with Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu from 1997 
to 2002.

Ms. Wong siu Yu rachel (黃少如), aged 45, is the financial controller of the Group. She is responsible for 
overseeing the Group’s financial matters and the accounts of the PRC subsidiaries and the joint venture companies 
of the Group. She is also a director of Time Watch Shanghai, Time Watch Chengdu, Zhengzhou Time Watch, 
Shenzhen Time Watch, Shenzhen Time Watch Management Consulting Limited, Half Hour Trade and Commercial 
and Yi Cun Jin Technology. She has more than 10 years of experience in accounting and finance. She obtained 
Bachelor of Business (major in accounting and manufacturing management) from the Swinburne University of 
Technology in 1999.
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CorPoraTe GoVernanCe PraCTiCes

The Board and the Company are always committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance. 
Apart from adopting the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules (the “CG 
Code”) as the Company’s corporate governance code, the Company has also established a corporate governance 
committee (the “CG Committee”) with corporate governance functions set out in code provision D.3 of the CG 
Code. The Company and the CG Committee periodically review the Company’s corporate governance practice 
to ensure its continuous compliance with the CG Code. During FY2015 and up to the date of this annual report, 
save as disclosed below, the Company has complied with the code provisions set out in the CG Code.

CoDe ProVision a.2.1

Pursuant to code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate 
and should not be performed by the same individual. Under the current corporate structure of the Group, Mr. 
Tung performs both the roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Although the 
responsibilities of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are vested in one person, all major decisions 
are made in consultation with the Board members and the senior management of the Company. As there are 
three independent non-executive Directors in the Board, the Board considers that there is sufficient balance of 
power in the Board. Also, taking into account of Mr. Tung’s strong expertise and insight of the watch industry, 
the Board considered that the roles of chairman and chief executive officer being performed by Mr. Tung enables 
more effective and efficient overall business planning, decision making and implementation thereof by the Group.

In order to maintain good corporate governance and to ensure Company’s compliance with code provisions of 
the CG Code, the Board will regularly review the need to appoint different individuals to perform the roles of 
chairman and chief executive officer separately.

MoDel CoDe For seCuriTies TransaCTions BY DireCTors

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions on terms no less 
exacting that the required standard set out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed 
Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry of all 
the Directors, the Company is satisfied that and the Directors confirmed that they have fully complied with the 
required standard set out in the Model Code and the Company’s code of conduct regarding directors’ securities 
transaction during FY2015 and up to the date of this annual report.

BoarD oF DireCTors

The Board has a balance of skills and experience and a balanced composition of executive and independent 
non-executive Directors. As at 30 June 2015, the Board comprised seven Directors, four of whom are executive 
Directors and three of whom are independent non-executive Directors as set out below:

executive Directors

Mr. Tung Koon Ming (Chairman and chief executive officer)
Mr. Hou Qinghai
Mr. Tung Wai Kit
Mr. Deng Guanglei
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independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Ma Ching Nam
Mr. Wong Wing Keung Meyrick
Mr. Choi Ho Yan

The Board is responsible for overseeing management of the Group’s business and affairs. The Board has delegated 
the day-to-day responsibility to the executive Directors and senior management of the Company who are closely 
supervised by the Board to ensure compliance with the Company’s policy and strategy.

Save for the father and son relationship between Mr. Tung Koon Ming and Mr. Tung Wai Kit, both being executive 
Directors, there is no relationship including financial, business, family or other material or relevant relationships, 
between board members.

The Company maintains appropriate liability insurance to indemnify its Directors for their liabilities arising out 
of corporate activities.

DireCTors’ aTTenDanCe aT BoarD MeeTinGs anD General MeeTinGs

During FY2015, the Company had held seven board meetings and one general meeting which was the annual 
general meeting for FY2014. The attendance of each of the Directors at these board meetings and general 
meeting, by name, is set out below:

Directors

attendance/
number of board

meetings held

attendance/
number of general

meetings held

executive Directors
Mr. Tung Koon Ming (Chairman) 7/7 1/1
Mr. Lo Wing Sang (resigned on 15 October 2014) 3/3 Nil
Mr. Hou Qinghai 6/7 1/1
Mr. Tung Wai Kit 7/7 1/1
Mr. Deng Guanglei (appointed on 15 October 2014) 4/4 1/1

independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Ma Ching Nam 6/7 1/1
Mr. Wong Wing Keung Meyrick 7/7 1/1
Mr. Choi Ho Yan 6/7 1/1

For the individual attendance record of the Directors at the meetings of the remuneration committee, the audit 
committee, the nomination committee and the CG Committee of the Board, please refer to the paragraphs 
headed “remuneration committee”, “audit committee”, “nomination committee” and “corporate governance 
committee” respectively of this corporate governance report.

Minutes of meetings of the Board and committees are recorded in appropriate detail and are kept by the 
Company Secretary of the Company. The minutes are circulated to the Directors for review within reasonable 
time after each meeting.
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The Directors are able, upon reasonable request, to seek independent professional advice in appropriate 
circumstances, at the Company’s expenses. The Board shall resolve to provide independent professional advice 
to assist the relevant Directors to discharge their duties.

inDePenDenCe oF inDePenDenT non-exeCuTiVe DireCTors

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his 
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based on these confirmations, the Company considers 
that each of the independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

TerMs oF aPPoinTMenT oF inDePenDenT non-exeCuTiVe DireCTors

Each of the independent non-executive Directors is appointed for an initial term of two years which shall be 
renewable automatically for a successive term of one year each commencing from the next day after the expiry 
of the then current term of his appointment, unless terminated by either party by giving not less than three 
month’s written notice expiring at the end of the initial term or any time thereafter. The appointment of the 
independent non-executive Directors is subject to the provisions of the articles of association of the Company 
with regard to vacation of office of Directors, removal and retirement by rotation of Directors.

DireCTors’ ConTinuous TraininG anD DeVeloPMenT

Pursuant to Code Provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all Directors should participate in continuous professional 
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. Each of the Directors have been given relevant 
guideline materials to ensure that they are apprised of the latest changes in the commercial, legal and regulatory 
requirements in relation to the Company’s businesses, and to refresh their knowledge and skills on the roles, 
functions and duties of a listed company director.

New Directors, on appointment, will be given an induction package containing all key legal and Listing Rules’ 
requirements as well as guidelines on the responsibilities and obligations to be observed by a director. The 
package will also include the latest published financial reports of the Company and the documentation for the 
corporate governance practices adopted by the Board.

The Company also continuously updates Directors on the latest developments regarding listing rules and other 
applicable regulatory requirements to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate 
governance practices. Circulars or guidance notes are also issued to Directors where appropriate to ensure their 
awareness of best corporate governance practices.
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reMuneraTion CoMMiTTee

The Company has established a remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) of the Board pursuant 
to a resolution of the Directors passed on 11 January 2013 with written terms of reference in compliance 
with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules. The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee are to make 
recommendations to the Board on the overall remuneration policy and structure relating to all Directors and 
senior management of the Group, review performance based remuneration and ensure none of the Directors 
determine their own remuneration. During FY2015, the Remuneration Committee reviewed the remuneration 
policy and packages of the Directors and the senior management.

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises three independent non-executive Directors. One Remuneration 
Committee meeting was held during FY2015. Members of the Remuneration Committee and the attendance 
record of each member are set out below:

Members

attendance/
number of

meetings held

Mr. Wong Wing Keung Meyrick (Chairman) 1/1
Mr. Ma Ching Nam 1/1
Mr. Choi Ho Yan 1/1

auDiT CoMMiTTee

The Company has established an audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) of the Board pursuant to a resolution 
of the Directors passed on 11 January 2013 with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of 
the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to make recommendations to the Board on 
the appointment and removal of the external auditor, review the financial statements and material advice in 
respect of financial reporting and oversee the internal control procedures of the Company. During FY2015, the 
Audit Committee has reviewed with the management of the Company, the accounting principles and practices 
adopted by the Group and discussed the audit, internal control and financial reporting matters in relation to the 
annual report of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2015.

The Audit Committee currently comprises three independent non-executive Directors. Three Audit Committee 
meetings were held during FY2015. Members of the Audit Committee and the attendance record of each 
member are set out below:

Members

attendance/
number of

meetings held

Mr. Choi Ho Yan (Chairman) 3/3
Mr. Wong Wing Keung Meyrick 3/3
Mr. Ma Ching Nam 3/3
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noMinaTion CoMMiTTee

The Company has established a nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”) of the Board pursuant 
to a resolution of Directors passed on 11 January 2013 with written terms of reference in compliance with 
code provision A.5.1 of the CG Code. The primary functions of the Nomination Committee are to make 
recommendations to the Board regarding candidates to fill vacancies on the Board.

The Nomination Committee follows a set of procedures when recommending candidates for directorship. The 
following criteria are considered in selecting a candidate:

• Integrity, objectivity, and intelligence of the person, with reputations for sound judgment and open mind, 
and a demonstrated capacity for thoughtful group decision-making;

• Qualification and career experience; and

• Understanding of the Company and its corporate mission.

When a candidate is proposed for directorship of the Company, he or she shall be evaluated on the basis of the 
criteria set out in the procedures mentioned above. Selection of the suitable candidate is based on a majority 
vote. Each committee member will be asked to express his or her view before voting. After voting, the chairman 
of the Nomination Committee will report its recommendations to the Board.

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy with effect from 1 September 2013 and a written resolution 
passed on 15 October 2014, setting out the approach to diversity of members of the Board. The Company 
recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance. The 
following measurable objectives have been set for implementing the board diversity policy:

(a) at least 50% of the members of the Board shall have attained education from university;

(b) at least 40% of the members of the Board shall have obtained accounting or other professional 
qualifications;

(c) at least 20% of the members of the Board shall have China-related work experience; and

(d) at least 40% of the members of the Board shall be independent non-executive directors.

As at the date hereof, the above objectives have been achieved. The Nomination Committee would regularly 
review the policy and the measurable objectives to ensure its effectiveness to achieve diversity on the Board.
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The Nomination Committee currently comprises one executive Director and two independent non-executive 
Directors. One Nomination Committee meeting was held during FY2015. Members of the Nomination Committee 
and attendance record of the members are set out below:

Members

attendance/
number of

meeting held

Mr. Tung Koon Ming (Chairman) 1/1
Mr. Ma Ching Nam 1/1
Mr. Wong Wing Keung Meyrick 1/1

CorPoraTe GoVernanCe CoMMiTTee

The Company has established the CG Committee pursuant to a resolution of the Directors passed on 11 January 
2013 with written terms of reference in compliance with paragraph D.3.1 of the CG Code. The primary functions 
of the CG Committee are to keep the effectiveness of the corporate governance and system of internal non-
financial controls of the Group.

The CG Committee currently comprises three independent non-executive Directors. One CG Committee meeting 
was held during FY2015 to review the policies and practices on corporate governance of the Group. Members 
of the CG Committee and the attendance record of each member are set out below:

Members

attendance/
number of

meeting held

Mr. Ma Ching Nam (Chairman) 1/1
Mr. Choi Ho Yan 1/1
Mr. Wong Wing Keung Meyrick 1/1

auDiTor’s reMuneraTion

The fees in relation to the audit service provided by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, the external auditors of the 
Company, for FY2015 amounted to approximately HK$1,990,000 (2014: approximately HK$1,837,000). No 
non-audit services were provided by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu during the year under review.

DireCTors’ resPonsiBiliTY For THe FinanCial sTaTeMenTs

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements of the Group for the relevant 
accounting periods under applicable statutory and regulatory requirements which give a true and fair view of 
the state of affairs, the results of operations and cash flows of the Group. In preparing the financial statements 
for FY2015, suitable accounting policies have been adopted and applied consistently. The financial statements 
for the reporting year have been prepared on a going concern basis.
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inTernal ConTrols

The Board has overall responsibility for the effectiveness of the internal control system and monitors the internal 
control systems through the Group’s outsourced internal auditors, Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited (“Baker 
Tilly”). Baker Tilly reviews the material controls of the Group on a continuous basis and aims to cover all major 
operations of the Group on a cyclical basis. Overall, internal audits are designed to provide the Board with 
reasonable assurance that the internal control systems of the Group are sound and effective. The Board also 
reviews regularly the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s accounting 
and financial reporting function, and their training programmes and budget. No material irregularities were 
found during FY2015.

CoMPlianCe anD enForCeMenT oF THe non-CoMPeTe unDerTaKinG FroM 
ConTrollinG sHareHolDers

As disclosed in the prospectus of the Company dated 24 January 2013 (the “Prospectus”), Mr. Tung, Red 
Rewarding Limited, Time Watch Investments Private Limited, Winning Metal Products Manufacturing Company 
Limited and Red Glory Investments Limited, being the then controlling shareholders of the Company (the 
“Controlling Shareholders”), through various companies controlled by them or any of them, are interested 
in some other different businesses, including but not limited to the (1) retail sales of multi-brand watches 
outside the PRC; (2) minority investments in various companies that distribute multi-brand watches; (3) minority 
investments in various companies that manufacture and supply third-party brands of watches and accessories 
on OEM basis and manufacture and supply of packaging materials for third-party brands of watches; and (4) 
property investment in the PRC and Hong Kong. Please refer to the section headed “Relationship with our 
controlling shareholders” of the prospectus for details of the excluded business, including but not limited to 
its management, nature, scope, size, how such business may compete with the Group’s business and how the 
Group is capable of carrying on its business independently of, and at arm’s length from such excluded business. 
Having made reasonable enquiry, the Directors confirm that details of the excluded business as disclosed in the 
Prospectus have not changed since the publication of the Prospectus.

To protect the Group from any potential competition, the Controlling Shareholders have given an irrevocable non-
compete undertaking (the “Non-compete Undertaking”) in favour of the Company on 11 January 2013 pursuant 
to which each of the Controlling Shareholders has, among other matters, undertaken with the Company that 
each of the Controlling Shareholders and their respective associates (other than the Group) shall not, save as 
to the extent permitted pursuant to the Non-compete Undertaking, engaged in any business which will or may 
compete with the business currently and from time to time engaged by the Group. Details of the Non-compete 
Undertaking have been set out in paragraph headed “Relationship with our controlling shareholders – Non-
compete undertaking” of the Prospectus.



Time Watch Investments Limited
Annual Report 201538

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE  
REPORT

In order to properly manage any potential or actual conflict of interests between the Group and the Controlling 
Shareholders in relation to the compliance and enforcement of the Non-compete Undertaking, the Group has 
adopted the following corporate governance measures:

(i) the independent non-executive Directors shall review, at least on an annual basis, the compliance with 
and enforcement of the terms of the Non-compete Undertaking by the Controlling Shareholders;

(ii) any decisions on matters reviewed by the independent non-executive Directors relating to compliance and 
enforcement of the Non-compete Undertaking shall be disclosed either through the Company’s annual 
report or by way of announcement;

(iii) how the terms of the Non-compete Undertaking have been complied with and enforced shall be disclosed 
in the corporate governance report of the Company’s annual report;

(iv) in the event that any of the Directors and/or their respective associates has material interest in any matter 
to be deliberated by the Board in relation to the compliance and enforcement of the Non-compete 
Undertaking, he/she may not vote on the resolutions of the Board approving the matter and shall not 
be counted towards the quorum for the voting pursuant to the applicable provisions in the articles of 
association of the Company; and

(v) the Group is committed that the Board should include a balanced composition of executives and non-
executive Directors (including independent non-executive Directors).

The Directors consider that the above corporate governance measures are sufficient to manage any potential 
conflict of interests between the Controlling Shareholders and their respective associates and the Group and to 
protect the interests of the shareholders, in particular, the minority shareholders of the Company.

The Company has received the annual declaration from each of the Controlling Shareholders in respect of their 
respective compliance with the terms of the Non-compete Undertaking during FY2015. The independent non-
executive Directors, having reviewed the annual declarations and made reasonable enquiry, are satisfied that 
the Controlling Shareholders have complied with the terms of the Non-compete Undertaking during FY2015.

CoMPanY seCreTarY

Mr. Chen Kwok Wang resigned from the office of the Company Secretary with effect from 2 January 2015. Ms. 
Hui Wai Man (“Ms. Hui”) has been appointed as the Company Secretary of the Company with effect from 2 
January 2015 to fill the vacancy. Ms. Hui is a practising accountant in Hong Kong and is currently a director of 
a CPA firm and a securities firm. She is a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the 
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators and 
the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries. Ms. Cheung Mei Chu, Clara, who is the chief financial officer 
of the Group, is the primary point of contact at the Company with the Company Secretary.
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sHareHolDers’ riGHTs

1. Procedures for shareholders to convene an extraordinary general meeting

1.1 The following procedures for shareholders (the “Shareholders”, each a “Shareholder”) of the 
Company to convene an extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”) of the Company are prepared in 
accordance with Article 64 of the articles of association of the Company:

(1) One or more Shareholders (the “Requisitionist(s)”) holding, at the date of deposit of the 
requisition, not less than one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having the right 
of voting at general meetings shall have the right, by written notice (the “Requisition”), to 
require an EGM to be called by the Directors for the transaction of any business specified 
therein.

(2) Such Requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the Company Secretary of the 
Company at 27th Floor, CEO Tower, 77 Wing Hong Street, Kowloon, Hong Kong or via 
email at investor_relations@timewatch.com.hk.

(3) The EGM shall be held within two months after the deposit of such Requisition.

(4) If the Directors fail to proceed to convene such meeting within twenty-one (21) days of 
the deposit of such Requisition, the Requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the 
same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the Requisitionist(s) as a result of 
the failure of the Directors shall be reimbursed to the Requisitionist(s) by the Company.

2. Procedures for raising enquiries

2.1 Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholdings, share transfer, registration 
and payment of dividend to the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, details of which 
are as follows:

Tricor investor services limited

Address: Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong

Email: is-enquiries@hk.tricorglobal.com

Tel: (852) 2980 1333

Fax: (852) 2861 1465
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2.2 Shareholders may at any time raise any enquiry in respect of the Company at the following 
designated contacts, correspondence addresses, email addresses and enquiry hotlines of the 
Company:

Address: 27th Floor, CEO Tower, 77 Wing Hong Street, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Email: investor_relations@timewatch.com.hk

Tel: (852) 2411 3567

Fax: (852) 3585 2083

Attention: Company Secretary/Board of Directors

2.3 Shareholders are reminded to lodge their questions together with their detailed contact information 
for the prompt response from the Company if it deems appropriate.

3. Procedures and contact details for putting forward proposals at shareholders’ meetings

3.1 To put forward proposals at a general meeting of the Company, a Shareholder should lodge a 
written notice of his/her/its proposal (the “Proposal”) with his/her/its detailed contact information 
at the Company’s principal place of business at 27th Floor, CEO Tower, 77 Wing Hong Street, 
Kowloon, Hong Kong.

3.2 The request will be verified with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong and upon 
their confirmation that the request is proper and in order and made by a Shareholder, the Board 
of Directors will be asked to include the Proposal in the agenda for the general meeting.

3.3 The notice period to be given to all the Shareholders for consideration of the Proposal raised by 
the Shareholder concerned at the general meeting varies according to the nature of the Proposal 
as follows:

(a) Notice of not less than 21 clear days and not less than 20 clear business days in writing if 
the Proposal requires an ordinary resolution or a special resolution of the Company in an 
annual general meeting of the Company;

(b) Notice of not less than 21 clear days and not less than 10 clear business days in writing if the 
Proposal requires approval by way of a special resolution of the Company in an extraordinary 
general meeting of the Company; and

(c) Notice of not less than 14 clear days and not less than 10 clear business days in writing 
if the Proposal requires approval by way of an ordinary resolution of the Company in an 
extraordinary general meeting of the Company.

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the Board in writing to the Company’s 
principal place of business in Hong Kong at 27th Floor, CEO Tower, 77 Wing Hong Street, Kowloon, Hong Kong.



Time Watch Investments Limited
Annual Report 2015 41

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE  
REPORT

CoMMuniCaTion WiTH sHareHolDers

The management of the Group endeavours to maintain effective communications with the shareholders and 
potential investor. The Company meets the shareholders at the annual general meeting, publish interim and 
annual reports on the Company’s website (www.timewatch.com.hk) and the Stock Exchange, and release press 
releases on the Company’s website to keep the shareholders and potential investors abreast of the Group’s 
business and development.

ConsTiTuTional DoCuMenTs

During FY2015 and up to the date of this report, there is no change in the Company’s constitutional documents.

uPDaTes on CoMPlianCe anD reGulaTorY MaTTers as DisCloseD in THe 
ProsPeCTus

Failure to contribute to social insurance and housing provident fund

As disclosed in the Prospectus and the annual report of the Company for FY2014, Tian Wang Shenzhen failed to 
make full contributions into the social insurance and housing provident fund before the listing date. The Group 
has made up contributions for all entitled employees of Tian Wang Shenzhen in accordance with the PRC national 
laws and regulations since July 2012 and has incorporated an enforceable written policy for social insurance and 
housing provident fund contribution into its human resources management policy as stated in the Prospectus. As 
there is no established mechanism for enterprises to make up historical deficient contributions, particularly for 
those contributions which have been outstanding for a certain period of time, the Group has made provision, 
which cover for both of the employer’s and the employee’s portions of the unpaid social insurance and housing 
provident fund contributions, in the consolidated financial statements. As at the date of this report, the Group 
has not received any notification or orders from the relevant authorities in relation to the previously unpaid social 
insurance and housing provident fund.

Defects in relation to lease agreements of the Group

As disclosed in the Prospectus and the annual report of the Company for FY2014, the Group strives to rectify the 
non-compliances or defects in lease agreements (please refer to the section headed “Our business – Litigation 
and compliance” of the Prospectus for details of such non-compliance). As at the date of this report, save for 
the lease agreements for four POS of the Group which remain unregistered, the Group has rectified the non-
compliances and the defective lease agreements in the manner as disclosed in the Prospectus. As disclosed in 
the Prospectus, the maximum fine which the Group may be subject to for each unregistered lease agreement is 
RMB10,000. In respect of the four unregistered lease agreements, the Group has requested the relevant local 
authorities to implement the registration of the agreements. But the four lease agreements have not been 
completed up to the date of this annual report because the local authorities have not provided clear registration 
procedures to the Group.
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The Board of Directors of the Company is pleased to present this annual report together with the audited financial 
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for FY2015.

PrinCiPal aCTiViTies

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in 
note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

MaJor CusToMers anD suPPliers

During the year, sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for approximately 5.1% of the Group’s 
total turnover of the year and purchase from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 
25.7% of the Group’s total purchase of the year and purchase from the largest supplier of the Group accounted 
for approximately 10.0% of the total purchase of the year.

None of the Directors nor any of their associates or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the 
Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) of the Company had any interest in the 
Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

resulTs anD DiViDenDs

The results of the Group for FY2015 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income on page 55 of this annual report and the state of affairs of the Group as at 30 June 
2015 are set out in the consolidated statement of financial position on page 56 to 57 of this annual report.

The Directors have recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK3 cents per Share for FY2015 amounting 
to approximately HK$62.4 million, which is subject to shareholders’ approval in the coming annual general 
meeting of the Company. For FY2014, the Company has paid a final dividend of HK3 cents per Share and a 
special dividend of HK2 cents per Share. Subject to the approval of the shareholders at the forthcoming annual 
general meeting (the “Annual General Meeting”) of the Company to be held on 24 November 2015, the proposed 
final dividend will be paid to Shareholders whose name appears on the register of members of the Company at 
the close of business on 30 November 2015. It is expected that the proposed final dividend will be paid on or 
about 9 December 2015.

Closure oF reGisTer oF MeMBers

For the purpose of determining members who are qualified for attending the Annual General Meeting, the 
register of members of the Company will be closed from 20 November 2015 to 24 November 2015 (both days 
inclusive), during which period no transfer of share of the Company will be effected. In order to qualify for 
attending the Annual General Meeting, all transfers of shares of the Company accompanied by the relevant 
share certificates and properly completed transfer forms must be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong branch 
share registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong 
for registration by no later than 4:30 p.m. on 19 November 2015.
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For the purpose of determining members who are qualified for the proposed final dividend for FY2015 which is 
subject to approval by the shareholders, at the Annual General Meeting, the register of members of the Company 
will be closed on 30 November 2015, on which no transfer of share of the Company will be effected. In order to 
qualify for the entitlement to the proposed final dividend, all transfers of shares of the Company accompanied 
by the relevant share certificates and properly completed transfer forms must be lodged with the Company’s 
Hong Kong branch share registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited at the above address for registration no later 
than 4:30 p.m. on 27 November 2015.

reserVes

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes 
in equity.

The Directors considered that the Company’s reserves available for distribution to shareholders comprise the share 
premium and the retained earnings which amounted to approximately HK$585.1 million for FY2015 (FY2014: 
approximately HK$678.6 million). Under the Companies Law (Revised) Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands, the 
share premium of the Company is available for paying distributions or dividends to shareholders subject to the 
provisions of its memorandum or articles of association and provided that immediately following the distribution 
of dividend the Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

reTireMenT BeneFiT sCHeMes

Details of retirement schemes of the Group are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements in 
this annual report.

ProPerTY, PlanT anD equiPMenT

During the year, the Group paid for leasehold land and buildings at a cost of approximately HK$11.5 million, 
leasehold improvements at a cost of approximately HK$11.7 million, acquired furniture and fixtures at a cost of 
approximately HK$1.0 million, computer equipment at a cost of approximately HK$5.7 million, tools, machinery, 
factory equipment and fittings at a cost of approximately HK$78.8 million, yacht at a cost of approximately 
HK$12.3 million and motor vehicles at a cost of approximately HK$1.4 million.

Details of these and other movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during the year are 
set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

sHare CaPiTal

Details of the issued share capital of the Company during the year are set out in note 24 to the consolidated 
financial statements in this annual report.

DireCTors anD DireCTors’ serViCe ConTraCTs

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this report were:

executive Directors

Mr. Tung Koon Ming (Chairman)
Mr. Lo Wing Sang (resigned on 15 October 2014)
Mr. Hou Qinghai
Mr. Tung Wai Kit
Mr. Deng Guanglei (appointed on 15 October 2014)
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independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Ma Ching Nam
Mr. Wong Wing Keung Meyrick
Mr. Choi Ho Yan

In accordance with article 105(A) of the Company’s articles of association, Mr. Tung Koon Ming, Mr. Tung Wai 
Kit and Mr. Choi Ho Yan (collectively, the “Retiring Directors”) will retire at the Annual General Meeting. The 
Retiring Directors, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his 
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based on these confirmations, the Company considers 
that each of the independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

No Directors proposed for re-election at the Annual General Meeting of the Company has a service contract 
which is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory 
compensation).

reMuneraTion oF DireCTors anD senior ManaGeMenT

The Directors’ fees are subject to Shareholders’ approval at general meeting of the Company. Other emoluments 
are determined by the Board of Directors with reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance 
and the results of the Group.

The remuneration of the senior management by band for FY2015 is set out below:

remuneration bands
number of 
employees

HK$ nil to HK$1,000,000 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1

Further details of the Directors’ remuneration and the five highest paid employees are set out in notes 8 and 9 
to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report respectively.
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DireCTors’ anD CHieF exeCuTiVe’s inTeresTs anD sHorT PosiTions in sHares, 
unDerlYinG sHares anD DeBenTures oF THe CoMPanY anD iTs assoCiaTeD 
CorPoraTions

As at 30 June 2015, the interests and short positions of the Directors and the chief executive of the Company 
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the 
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) as recorded in the register required 
to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and 
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the 
“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules were as follows:

name of Director

name of Group
member/associated
corporation

Capacity/nature
of interest

number and class
of securities

(note 1)

approximate
percentage of
shareholding

Mr. Tung Koon Ming 
 (“Mr. Tung”)

Company Interest of controlled
 corporation (note 2)

1,436,521,000 (L) 69.07%

notes:

1. The letter “L” denotes a long position in the shares of the Company or the relevant associated corporation.

2. These Company’s Shares were held by Red Glory Investments Limited (“Red Glory”), which was wholly owned by Mr. 

Tung. Mr. Tung was deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which Red Glory, was interested by virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2015, none of the Directors or the chief executive of the Company had an 
interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated 
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept by the 
Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange 
pursuant to the Model Code.
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suBsTanTial sHareHolDers’ inTeresTs anD sHorT PosiTions in sHares anD 
unDerlYinG sHares oF THe CoMPanY

So far as the Directors are aware of, as at 30 June 2015, the interests and short positions of the persons (other 
than a Director or chief executive of the Company) in the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company as 
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of SFO and based on the 
information available were as follows:

name of shareholders
Capacity/nature
of interest

number and class
of securities (note 1)

approximate
percentage of
shareholding

Red Glory Beneficial owner 1,436,521,000 Shares (L) 69.07%

Ms. Tam Fun Hung (“Ms. Tam”) Interest of spouse (note 2) 1,436,521,000 Shares (L) 69.07%

Orchid Asia V, LP Beneficial owner (note 3) 183,566,000 Shares (L) 8.83%

OAV Holdings, L.P. Interest of a controlled 
corporation (note 3)

183,566,000 Shares (L) 8.83%

Orchid Asia V GP, Limited Interest of a controlled 
corporation (note 3)

183,566,000 Shares (L) 8.83%

Orchid Asia V Group 
 Management, Limited

Interest of a controlled 
corporation (note 3)

183,566,000 Shares (L) 8.83%

Orchid Asia V Group, Limited Interest of a controlled 
corporation (note 3)

183,566,000 Shares (L) 8.83%

Areo Holdings Limited Interest of a controlled 
corporation (note 3)

189,198,000 Shares (L) 9.10%

Lam Lai Ming Interest of a controlled 
corporation (note 3)

189,198,000 Shares (L) 9.10%

Li Gabriel Interest of a controlled 
corporation (note 3)

189,198,000 Shares (L) 9.10%
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1. The letter “L” denotes a person’s long position in the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company.

2. Ms. Tam is the spouse of Mr. Tung. Ms. Tam was deemed to be interested in the Shares in which Mr. Tung was 

interested by virtue of the SFO. Details of Mr. Tung’s interests in the Shares are disclosed in note 2 to the paragraph 

headed “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of 

the Company and its Associated Corporations” in this annual report.

3. So far as the Directors are aware of, these Shares were beneficial owned as to 183,566,000 Shares by Orchid Asia V, 

L.P. and 5,632,000 Shares by Orchid Asia V Co-Investment, Limited, So far as the Directors are aware of, Orchid Asia V, 

L.P. was wholly-controlled by OAV Holdings, L.P., which was in turn wholly-owned by Orchid Asia V GP, Limited. Orchid 

Asia V GP, Limited was wholly-owned by Orchid Asia V Group Management, Limited, which was in turn wholly-owned 

by Orchid Asia V Group, Limited. Orchid Asia V Group, Limited was wholly-owned by Areo Holdings Limited.

So far as the Directors are aware of, Orchid Asia V Co-Investment, Limited was also wholly-controlled by Areo Holdings 

Limited. Areo Holdings Limited was wholly-owned by Ms. Lam Lai Ming. Areo Holdings Limited is also controlled by 

Mr. Li Gabriel by virtue of his directorship therein. Accordingly, Ms. Lam Lai Ming and Mr. Li Gabriel were taken to be 

interested in the Shares in which Areo Holdings Limited was interested by virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2015, no person (other than a Director or chief executive of the Company) 
had an interest or short position in the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company as recorded in the register 
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.
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MaTerial aCquisiTion anD DisPosal oF suBsiDiaries anD assoCiaTeD 
CoMPanies

During FY2015, there was no material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries or associated companies by the 
Company.

sHare oPTion sCHeMe

A share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was conditionally approved by the then sole shareholder of the 
Company on 11 January 2013 for the purpose of providing incentives or rewards to eligible participants for 
their contribution to the Group.

Eligible participants of the Scheme include, (i) any employee (whether full time or part time, including any 
executive director) of the Company, its subsidiaries or invested entity; (ii) any non-executive directors (including 
independent non-executive directors) of the Company, its subsidiaries or invested entity; (iii) any supplier or 
customer of the Group or any invested entity; (iv) any person or entity that provides research, development or 
other technological support to the Group or any invested entity; (v) any shareholder of any member of the Group 
or any invested entity or any holder of any securities issued by any member of the Group or any invested entity; 
(vi) any advisor (professional or otherwise) or consultant to any area of business or business development of 
the Group or any invested entity; (vii) any other group or classes of participants who have contributed or may 
contribute by way of joint venture, business alliance or other business arrangement to the development and 
growth of the Group; and (viii) any company wholly owned by one or more eligible participants as referred to 
in (i) to (vii) above.

The maximum number of Shares to be issued upon the exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be 
exercised under the Scheme and any other share option scheme adopted by the Group must not in aggregate 
exceed 30% of the share capital of the Company in issue from time to time. The maximum number of Shares 
issuable upon the exercise of options granted under the Scheme and any other share option scheme adopted 
by the Group (including both exercised or outstanding options) to each grantee within any 12-month period 
shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company for the time being. Any further grant of share 
options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting. Share options granted 
to a Director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company, or any of their associates must be 
approved by the independent non-executive Directors (excluding independent non-executive Director who or 
whose associates is the proposed grantee of the options).

In addition, any share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive Director 
of the Company or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the Shares in issue at any time and with an 
aggregate value (based on the closing price of the Shares at the date of the grant) in excess of HK$5 million, 
within any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options (excluding for this purpose options 
which have lapsed) to be granted under the Scheme and any other share option schemes must not in aggregate 
exceed 200,000,000 shares, representing approximately 10% and 9.62% of shares in issue as at 5 February 
2013 (the date of which the shares of the Company were listed on the Stock Exchange) and as at the date of 
this annual report, respectively.
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The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 21 days from the date of offer, upon payment 
of a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share options granted 
is determinable by the Directors, which period may commence from the date of the offer of the share options, 
and shall end on a date which is not later than 10 years from the date of grant of the share options subject to 
the provisions for early termination thereof.

The subscription price for the shares under the Scheme shall be determined by the Directors, but shall not be 
less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations 
sheet for trade in one or more board lots of the Shares on the date of the offer for the grant, which must be a 
business day; (ii) the average closing price of Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations for the five 
business days immediately preceding the date of the offer for the grant; and (iii) the nominal value of a Share.

Subject to the earlier termination of the Scheme in accordance with the rules thereof, the Scheme will remain in 
force for a period of 10 years commencing on 11 January 2013, which was the date of adoption of the Scheme 
and will expire on 10 January 2023.

During FY2015, no share option was granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the Scheme.

DireCTors’ inTeresTs in ConTraCTs oF siGniFiCanCe

Save as disclosed in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements and in the section headed “Connected 
transactions” in this annual report, no Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, in any 
contract of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was 
a party, subsisting during or at the end of the year.

Save as disclosed in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements and in the section headed “Connected 
transactions” in this annual report, no contract of significance had been entered into between the Company or 
any of its subsidiaries, and any controlling shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company or any 
of its subsidiaries.

DireCTors’ inTeresTs in CoMPeTinG Business

During FY2015 and up to the date of this report, except for Mr. Tung Koon Ming who is one of the controlling 
shareholders (within the meaning of Listing Rules) of the Company currently engaging in Excluded Businesses 
(as defined in the Prospectus on page 240) and Exempted Business (as defined in the Prospectus at page 261), 
none of the Directors of the Company are considered to have direct or indirect interests in businesses which 
compete or are likely to compete with businesses of the Group pursuant to the Listing Rules.
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ConneCTeD TransaCTions

Continuing Connected Transactions

During FY2015, the Group has conducted the following continuing connected transactions which were required 
to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 14A.71 of the Listing Rules:

(a) Pursuant to a tenancy agreement entered into between Winning Asia Holdings Group Limited (“Winning 
Asia”) and the Group dated 3 July 2012, the Group agreed to lease from Winning Asia a premises located 
at Hong Kong as the Group’s head office for a term of three years commencing from 1 July 2012 (subject 
to the right for the Group to terminate the agreement by serving not less than one month prior written 
notice) at an annual rent of HK$4,080,000, inclusive of repairing and maintenance fee, government 
rent and rates, management fees, electricity and water bills and other fees in relation to the use of the 
premises but exclude other utility charges. During FY2015, the rent paid by the Group to Winning Asia 
for rental of the said premises for FY2015 was HK$4,080,000 (FY2014: HK$4,080,000).

As Winning Asia is a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Red Frame Group Limited (“Red Frame”) which, 
in turn, is wholly owned by Mr. Tung, an executive Director and substantial shareholder of the Company, 
Winning Asia is a connected person of the Company.

(b) Pursuant to a tenancy agreement entered into between Zhengzhou Hengdi Investment Company Limited 
(“Zhengzhou Hengdi”) and the Group dated 1 June 2012, the Group agreed to lease from Zhengzhou 
Hengdi a premises located at Zhengzhou, PRC as the Group’s representative office for a term of three 
years commencing from 1 June 2012 (subject to the right for the Group to terminate the agreement by 
serving not less than one month prior written notice) at an annual rent of RMB90,000 exclusive of water, 
electricity, management fee and other utility charges, rates, management fees and other fees in relation 
to the use of the premises. The tenancy agreement has expired on 31 May 2015, and another tenancy 
agreement (the “2015 Zhengzhou Tenancy agreement”) has been entered into between Zhengzhou 
Hengdi and the Group on 29 June 2015 for lease of premises located at Zhengzhou, PRC. Pursuant to the 
2015 Zhengzhou Tenancy Agreement, Zhengzhou Hengdi agreed to lease the premises to the Group on 
similar terms for a term of 13 months commencing from 1 June 2015 at a monthly rent of RMB22,727 
exclusive of water, electricity, management fee and other utility charges, rates, management fees and 
other fees in relation to the use of the premises. The Group has an option to renew the 2015 Zhengzhou 
Tenancy Agreement for a successive term of one year upon expiry of the original term. Please refer to the 
announcement of the Company dated 29 June 2015 for further details of the 2015 Zhengzhou Tenancy 
Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder. During FY2015, the rent paid by the Group to 
Zhengzhou Hengdi for rental of the said premises for FY2015 was RMB105,227 (FY2014: RMB90,000).

As Zhengzhou Hengdi is wholly-owned by Mr. Tung, an executive Director and substantial shareholder of 
the Company, Zhengzhou Hengdi is a connected person of the Company.

(c) Pursuant to a distribution agreement entered into between Fortune Silver Holdings Limited (“Fortune 
Silver”) and the Group dated 19 December 2012 and which had expired on 30 June 2015, the Group 
agreed to sell its Tian Wang and Balco watches to Fortune Silver on consignment basis with the purchase 
price of each watch sold during the relevant calendar month to be determined by reference to a variable 
percentage discount to the recommended retail price of such watch in Hong Kong, in a sliding scale 
based on the quantity of watches sold during the relevant calendar month. During FY2015, the aggregate 
purchase price receivable from Fortune Silver amounted to approximately HK$27.5 million (FY2014: 
approximately HK$24.1 million), representing approximately 1.0% of the total revenue of the Group 
(FY2014: approximately 1.0%).
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As Fortune Silver is owned as to 51% by Fine Jade International Limited, a direct wholly-owned subsidiary 
of Red Frame which, in turn, is wholly-owned by Mr. Tung, an executive Director and substantial 
shareholder of the Company, Fortune Silver is a connected person of the Company.

(d) Pursuant to a distribution agreement entered into between Time Watch Enterprise Comp any Limited 
(“Time Watch Taiwan”) and the Group dated 13 June 2013 and which had expired on 30 June 2015, 
the Group agreed to sell its Tian Wang and Balco watches to Time Watch Taiwan on wholesale basis 
with the purchase price of each watch under each purchase order to be determined by reference to a 
fixed percentage discount to the recommended retail price of each watch in Hong Kong at the time of 
the purchase order. During FY2015, the aggregate purchase price receivable from Time Watch Taiwan 
amounted to approximately HK$4.3 million (FY2014: approximately HK$4.7 million), representing 
approximately 0.2% of the total revenue of the Group (FY2014: approximately 0.2%).

As Time Watch Taiwan is owned as to 51% by Fortune Best International Enterprise Limited, which is 
owned as to 42% by Prince Success Limited, which, in turn, is wholly-owned by Mr. Tung, Time Watch 
Taiwan is a connected person of the Company.

The independent non-executive Directors have, for the purpose of Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, reviewed and 
confirmed that the aforementioned continuing connected transactions undertaken by the Group were entered 
into (i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group; (ii) either on normal commercial terms or 
on terms no less favourable to the Group than terms available to or from independent third parties; and (iii) 
in accordance with the relevant agreements governing the transactions on terms that are fair and reasonable 
and in the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, auditors of the 
Company, has issued a letter to the Company to confirm the matters stated in Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

The Company also confirmed that it has complied with the disclosure requirements as applicable to the 
aforementioned continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Except for the 2015 Zhengzhou Tenancy Agreement, the agreements mentioned in this section have expired by 30 
June 2015.  The Group has extended relevant agreements by entering into new agreements with relevant parties.  
For details of the new agreements, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 29 June 2015.

use oF ProCeeDs FroM THe CoMPanY’s iniTial PuBliC oFFerinG

The net proceeds from the IPO of the Company in February 2013, after the deduction of expenses, amounted 
to approximately HK$742.0 million which comprise approximately HK$640.0 million from the global offering 
and approximately HK$102.0 million from the partial exercise of over-allotment option, of which approximately 
HK$93.2 million, approximately HK$139.0 million and approximately HK$223.1 million had been utilised in 
FY2015, FY2014 and FY2013 respectively.

suFFiCienCY oF PuBliC FloaT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the 
Directors confirm that the Company has maintained a sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules 
as at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this annual report.
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DonaTions

The Group’s charitable and other donations for FY2015 amounted to approximately HK$1.6 million (FY2014: 
HK$64,200), which is used to sponsor and promote the education of the youth. No donations were made to 
political parties.

FiVe Years FinanCial suMMarY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the past five financial years is set out on page 
3 of this annual report.

eVenTs aFTer THe rePorTinG PerioD

There is no material subsequent event undertaken by the Company or by the Group after 30 June 2015 and up 
to the date of this annual report.

CorPoraTe GoVernanCe

Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company are set out in the Corporate Governance 
Report on page 31 to page 41 of this Annual Report.

auDiT CoMMiTTee

The Audit Committee of the Board has reviewed the management and the accounting principles and practices 
adopted by the Group and discussed internal control and financial reporting matters including review of the 
audited financial statements for FY2015.

Pre-eMPTiVe riGHTs

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of association or the laws in the 
Cayman Islands, the jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated, which would oblige the Company to 
offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders of the Company.

PurCHase, sale or reDeMPTion oF lisTeD seCuriTies

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the 
Company’s listed securities.

auDiTors

The Company has appointed Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditors of the Company for FY2015 which will 
retire as the Company’s auditors at the end of the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company, and 
being eligible, will offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution to re-appoint Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as 
auditors of the Company for the year ending 30 June 2016 will be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General 
Meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Tung Koon Ming
Chairman
Hong Kong, 22 September 2015
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To THe MeMBers oF TiMe WaTCH inVesTMenTs liMiTeD
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Time Watch Investments Limited (the “Company”) 
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 55 to 111, which comprise the 
consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2015, and the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated 
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information.

DireCTors’ resPonsiBiliTY For THe ConsoliDaTeD FinanCial sTaTeMenTs

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that 
give a true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong 
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong 
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable 
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.

auDiTor’s resPonsiBiliTY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit and to 
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other 
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this 
report. We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the HKICPA. 
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation 
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and 
the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.
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oPinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the 
Group as at 30 June 2015, and of the Group’s financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with 
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong
22 September 2015
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PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 30 June 2015

2015 2014
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000

revenue 7 2,652,625 2,402,358
Cost of sales (845,220) (841,045)

Gross profit 1,807,405 1,561,313

Other income, gains and losses 10 6,218 15,634
Selling and distribution costs (1,207,436) (1,040,192)
Administrative expenses (125,444) (113,663)
Finance costs 11 (632) (1,339)

Profit before taxation 480,111 421,753
Income tax 12 (147,911) (106,689)

Profit for the year 13 332,200 315,064
Other comprehensive income (expense) which
 will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
 Exchange differences arising on translation 4,654 (17,398)

Total comprehensive income for the year 336,854 297,666

Profit (loss) for the year attributable to:
 Owners of the Company 336,755 309,890
 Non-controlling interests (4,555) 5,174

332,200 315,064

Total comprehensive income (expense) attributable to:
 Owners of the Company 340,973 293,878
 Non-controlling interests (4,119) 3,788

336,854 297,666

earnings per share 15
 – Basic and diluted (HK cents) 16.2 14.9
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF  
FINANCIAL POSITION
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2015 2014
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000

non-current assets
 Property, plant and equipment 16 166,012 117,651
 Prepaid lease payment 17 37,247 –
 Deposits paid for acquisition of property, 
  plant and equipment 8,806 –
 Deferred tax assets 25 25,266 27,295

237,331 144,946

Current assets
 Inventories 18 615,452 555,961
 Prepaid lease payment 17 1,284 –
 Trade receivables 19 410,851 391,521
 Other receivables, deposits and prepayments 19 115,219 98,194
 Structured deposits 20 125,100 –
 Bank balances and cash 21 550,510 660,065

1,818,416 1,705,741

Current liabilities
 Trade payables and bills payable 22 112,243 122,623
 Other payables and accrued charges 22 108,996 91,748
 Tax liabilities 53,702 59,434
 Bank borrowings 23 34,053 35,958

308,994 309,763

net current assets 1,509,422 1,395,978

Total assets less current liabilities 1,746,753 1,540,924
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2015 2014
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000

Capital and reserves
 Share capital 24 207,995 207,995
 Reserves 1,422,152 1,226,775

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 1,630,147 1,434,770
Non-controlling interests 65,704 68,121

Total equity 1,695,851 1,502,891

non-current liabilities
 Deferred tax liabilities 25 50,902 38,033

1,746,753 1,540,924

The consolidated financial statements on pages 55 to 111 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board 
of Directors on 22 September 2015 and are signed on its behalf by:

Mr. Tung Koon Ming Mr. Tung Wai Kit
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF  
CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 30 June 2015

attributable to owners of the Company

share 
capital

share 
premium

special 
reserve

Translation 
reserve

statutory 
surplus 

reserves
accumulated 

profits Total

non-
controlling 

interests
Total 

equity
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note a) (Note b)

At 1 July 2013 207,995 534,101 (234,378) 57,223 16,363 705,184 1,286,488 45,960 1,332,448

Profit for the year – – – – – 309,890 309,890 5,174 315,064
Exchange differences arising on 
 translation – – – (16,012) – – (16,012) (1,386) (17,398)

Total comprehensive (expense) 
 income for the year – – – (16,012) – 309,890 293,878 3,788 297,666

Appropriation to reserve – – – – 11,226 (11,226) – – –
Dividends recognised as distribution 
 during the year (note 14) – (23,000) – – – (122,596) (145,596) – (145,596)
Dividends declared by a subsidiary to 
 non-controlling shareholder – – – – – – – (3,097) (3,097)
Contribution from non-controlling 
 interests – – – – – – – 21,470 21,470

At 30 June 2014 207,995 511,101 (234,378) 41,211 27,589 881,252 1,434,770 68,121 1,502,891

Profit (loss) for the year – – – – – 336,755 336,755 (4,555) 332,200
Exchange differences arising on 
 translation – – – 4,218 – – 4,218 436 4,654

Total comprehensive income (expense) 
 for the year – – – 4,218 – 336,755 340,973 (4,119) 336,854

Appropriation to reserve – – – – 37,964 (37,964) – – –
Dividends recognised as distribution
 during the year (note 14) – – – – – (145,596) (145,596) – (145,596)
Dividends declared by subsidiaries
 to non-controlling shareholders – – – – – – – (4,257) (4,257)
Contribution from non-controlling 
 interests – – – – – – – 5,959 5,959

At 30 June 2015 207,995 511,101 (234,378) 45,429 65,553 1,034,447 1,630,147 65,704 1,695,851

Notes:

(a) The special reserve represents the difference between the nominal amount of the share capital issued by the Company 

and the nominal amount of the share capital of the acquired subsidiaries as well as financial guarantee provided to 

ultimate holding company as a result of group reorganisation which occurred in prior years.

(b) The statutory surplus reserves represent enterprise development and general reserve fund appropriated from the profit 

after taxation of subsidiaries established in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”).
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF  
CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 30 June 2015

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

oPeraTinG aCTiViTies
Profit before taxation 480,111 421,753
Adjustments for:
 Allowance for obsolete inventories 15,390 25,722
 Allowance for doubtful debts 11,511 1,390
 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 64,535 43,870
 Loss on disposal and written-off of property, plant and equipment 9,823 6,653
 Interest expenses 632 1,339
 Bank interest income (12,566) (8,821)

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 569,436 491,906
Increase in inventories (72,189) (145,985)
Increase in trade receivables (20,165) (56,961)
Increase in other receivables, deposits and prepayments (25,619) (30,367)
(Decrease) increase in trade payables and bills payable (10,864) 18,497
Increase in other payables and accrued charges 16,914 13,193

Cash generated from operations 457,513 290,283
Bank interest received 12,566 8,821
Income tax paid (139,121) (83,159)

neT CasH FroM oPeraTinG aCTiViTies 330,958 215,945

inVesTinG aCTiViTies
Structured deposits placed (125,100) –
Withdrawal of short-term deposit – 150,000
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (122,293) (100,078)
Addition of prepaid lease payment (38,592) –
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, plant and equipment (8,820) –
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 68 89

neT CasH (useD in) FroM inVesTinG aCTiViTies (294,737) 50,011
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF  
CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 30 June 2015

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

FinanCinG aCTiViTies
Dividends paid (145,596) (145,596)
Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries (4,257) (6,194)
Contribution from non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries 5,959 21,470
Interest paid (632) (1,339)
Borrowings raised 219,013 258,940
Repayment of bank borrowings (220,918) (263,493)
Repayment to a non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary – (1,321)

neT CasH useD in FinanCinG aCTiViTies (146,431) (137,533)

neT (DeCrease) inCrease in CasH anD CasH equiValenTs (110,210) 128,423

CasH anD CasH equiValenTs aT BeGinninG oF THe Year 660,065 537,240

eFFeCT oF ForeiGn exCHanGe raTe CHanGes 655 (5,598)

CasH anD CasH equiValenTs aT enD oF THe Year,
 represented by bank balances and cash 550,510 660,065
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2015

1. General

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company in the Cayman Islands with limited liability 
under the Companies Law (2007 Revision) Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands. The Company’s shares are 
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Its immediate and ultimate 
holding company is Red Glory Investments Limited (“Red Glory”), a company incorporated in the British 
Virgin Islands (“BVI”) and wholly owned by Mr. Tung Koon Ming (“Mr. Tung”), a director of the Company. 
The addresses of the registered office and principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in the 
section headed “Corporate Information” in the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. Details of the principal activities of its subsidiaries are 
set out in note 30.

The functional currency of the Company is Renminbi (“RMB”), while the consolidated financial statements 
is presented in Hong Kong dollar (“HK$”), which the management of the Group considered that it is 
more beneficial for the users of the consolidated financial statements, as the Company’s shares are listed 
on the Stock Exchange.

2. aPPliCaTion oF neW anD reViseD HonG KonG FinanCial rePorTinG 
sTanDarDs (“HKFrss”)

In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs and a new interpretation 
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”).

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual improvements to HKFRSs 2010 – 2012 cycle
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual improvements to HKFRSs 2011 – 2013 cycle
Amendments to HKFRS 10, 
 HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27

Investment entities

Amendments to HKAS 19 Defined benefit plans: Employee contributions
Amendments to HKAS 32 Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities
Amendments to HKAS 36 Recoverable amount disclosures for non-financial assets
Amendments to HKAS 39 Novation of derivatives and continuation of hedge accounting
HK(IFRIC) – INT 21 Levies

The application of these amendments to HKFRSs and the new interpretation in the current year has had 
no material impact on the Group’s financial performance and positions for the current and prior years 
and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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2. aPPliCaTion oF neW anD reViseD HonG KonG FinanCial rePorTinG 
sTanDarDs (“HKFrss”) (cont’d)

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are 
not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual improvements to HKFRSs 2012 – 2014 cycle1

Amendments to HKFRS 10 
 and HKAS 28

Sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its 
 associate or joint venture1

Amendments to HKFRS 10, 
 HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28

Investment entities: Applying the consolidation exception1

Amendments to HKFRS 11 Accounting for acquisitions of interests in joint operations1

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure initiative1

Amendments to HKAS 16 
 and HKAS 38

Clarification of acceptable methods of depreciation 
 and amortisation1

Amendments to HKAS 16 
 and HKAS 41

Agriculture: Bearer plants1

Amendments to HKAS 27 Equity method in separate financial statements1

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments2

HKFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers2

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018

HKFrs 15 “revenue from contracts with customers”

In July 2014, HKFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single comprehensive model for entities to use 
in accounting for revenue arising from contracts with customers. HKFRS 15 will supersede the current 
revenue recognition guidance including HKAS 18 “Revenue”, HKAS 11 “Construction contracts” and the 
related Interpretations when it becomes effective.

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should recognise revenue to depict the transfer of 
promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity 
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. Specifically, HKFRS 15 introduces a 5-step 
approach to revenue recognition:

• Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

• Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract

• Step 3: Determine the transaction price

• Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract

• Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation
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2. aPPliCaTion oF neW anD reViseD HonG KonG FinanCial rePorTinG 
sTanDarDs (“HKFrss”) (cont’d)

HKFrs 15 “revenue from contracts with customers” (cont’d)

Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. 
when ‘control’ of the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to 
the customer. Far more prescriptive guidance has been added in HKFRS 15 to deal with specific scenarios. 
Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS 15.

The directors of the Company will assess the impact on the application of HKFRS 15. For the moment, it 
is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of the effect of HKFRS 15 until the Group performs 
a detailed review.

Except as disclosed above, the directors of the Company anticipate that the application of the other new 
and revised HKFRSs will have no material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

3. siGniFiCanT aCCounTinG PoliCies

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the 
HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures required by 
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for leasehold 
land and buildings, which are measured at revalued amounts, as explained in the accounting policies set 
out below. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for 
goods.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is 
directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset 
or a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants 
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement 
date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements 
is determined on such a basis, except for leasing transactions that are within the scope of HKAS 17, and 
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value 
for the purposes of measuring inventories in HKAS 2 or value in use for the purposes of impairment 
assessment in HKAS 36.
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3. siGniFiCanT aCCounTinG PoliCies (cont’d)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 
or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the 
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

• Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that 
the entity can access at the measurement date;

• Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for 
the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

• Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities 
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

• has power over the investee;

• is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

• has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there 
are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Company 
and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners 
of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests 
having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their 
accounting policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions 
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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3. siGniFiCanT aCCounTinG PoliCies (cont’d)

revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for 
estimated customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods are delivered and titles have passed, at 
which time all the following conditions are satisfied:

• the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;

• the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with 
ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

• it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group; 
and

• the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

Service income is recognised when services are provided.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is probable that economic benefits will flow 
to the Group and the amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest income is accrued on a time 
basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the 
rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial 
asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognised as an expense in the period in which 
they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised 
as a liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a 
straight-line basis.
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3. siGniFiCanT aCCounTinG PoliCies (cont’d)

leasehold land and buildings

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the Group assesses the classification of each 
element as a finance or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as to whether substantially 
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of each element have been transferred to the Group, 
unless it is clear that both elements are operating leases in which case the entire lease is classified as an 
operating lease. Specifically, the minimum lease payments (including any lump-sum upfront payments) 
are allocated between the land and the building elements in proportion to the relative fair values of the 
leasehold interests in the land element and building element of the lease at the inception of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payment can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that 
is accounted for as an operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease payment” in the consolidated 
statement of financial position and is amortised over the lease term on a straight-line basis. When the 
lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between the land and building elements, the entire lease is 
generally classified as a finance lease and accounted for as property, plant and equipment.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than 
the functional currency of that entity (“foreign currencies”) are recognised at the rates of exchanges 
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items 
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items 
carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on 
the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical 
cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the 
Group’s foreign operations are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) using 
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses are translated at 
the average exchange rates for the year. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the heading of translation reserve (attributable 
to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, 
which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or 
sale, are added to the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their 
intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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3. siGniFiCanT aCCounTinG PoliCies (cont’d)

retirement benefits costs

Payments to state-managed retirement benefits schemes and the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme 
(“MPF Scheme”) are recognised as expenses when employees have rendered services entitling them to 
the contributions.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from ‘profit before 
taxation’ as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
because of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never 
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
in the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of 
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. 
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that 
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary differences 
can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the 
initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction 
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in 
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it 
is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets 
arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments are only recognised to the 
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits 
of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced 
to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or 
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period 
in which the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow 
from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the 
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.
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3. siGniFiCanT aCCounTinG PoliCies (cont’d)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment other than leasehold land and buildings are stated in the consolidated 
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses, if any.

Leasehold land and buildings held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for 
administrative purposes, are stated in the consolidated statements of financial position at their revalued 
amounts, being the fair value at the date of revaluation less any subsequent accumulated depreciation 
and any subsequent impairment losses. Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity such that 
the carrying amount does not differ materially from that which would be determined using fair values at 
the end of the reporting period.

Any revaluation increase arising on revaluation of leasehold land and buildings is recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in properties revaluation reserve, except to the extent that it 
reverses a revaluation decrease of the same asset previously recognised as an expense, in which case the 
increase is credited to profit or loss to the extent of the decrease previously charged. A decrease in net 
carrying amount arising on revaluation of such leasehold land and buildings is recognised in profit or loss 
to the extent that it exceeds the balance, if any, on the properties revaluation reserve relating to a previous 
revaluation of that asset. On the subsequent sale or retirement of a revalued asset, the attributable 
revaluation surplus remaining in the property revaluation reserve is transferred to accumulated profits.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost or fair value of assets less their residual values over 
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and 
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in 
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic 
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal 
or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the 
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost of inventories are determined 
on a first-in, first-out method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories 
less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.
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Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position 
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities are added to or deducted 
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Financial assets are classified into loans and receivables. The classification depends on the nature and 
purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition. All regular way 
purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way 
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time 
frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and 
of allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or received that form an 
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through 
the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying 
amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables (including trade 
receivables, other receivables, structured deposits, bank balances and cash) are measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment.

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables 
where the recognition of interest would be immaterial.
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3. siGniFiCanT aCCounTinG PoliCies (cont’d)

Financial instruments (cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period. Financial 
assets are considered to be impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more 
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows 
of the financial assets have been affected.

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

• significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

• breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or

• it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade receivables, assets that are assessed not to be 
impaired individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of 
impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past experience of collecting payments, 
an increase in the number of delayed payments and observable changes in national or local economic 
conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss recognised is the 
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows 
discounted at the financial assets’ original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets 
with the exception of trade and other receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the 
use of an allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised 
in profit or loss. When a trade or other receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the 
allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment 
loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss 
was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent 
that the carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the 
amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.
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3. siGniFiCanT aCCounTinG PoliCies (cont’d)

Financial instruments (cont’d)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity 
in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a 
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after 
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds 
received, net of direct issue costs.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and 
of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees or points paid or received that form an 
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through 
the expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying 
amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities including trade payables and bills payable, other payables and accrued charges and 
bank borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the assets 
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 
of the assets to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount 
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had been 
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, 
cancelled or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised 
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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3. siGniFiCanT aCCounTinG PoliCies (cont’d)

impairment on tangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible assets to 
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such 
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the 
impairment loss, if any. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, 
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When 
a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to 
individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating 
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value 
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate 
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset 
for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying 
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. 
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the 
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed 
the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the 
asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development activities (or from the development 
phase of an internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:

• the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or 
sale;

• the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

• the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

• how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits;

• the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development 
and to use or sell the intangible asset; and

• the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its 
development.
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3. siGniFiCanT aCCounTinG PoliCies (cont’d)

research and development expenditure (cont’d)

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible asset is the sum of the expenditure 
incurred from the date when the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above. Where 
no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure is charged to profit 
or loss in the period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible assets are reported at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses (if any).

4. KeY sourCes oF esTiMaTion unCerTainTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 3, the management 
of the Group are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual 
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that 
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future 
periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation 
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment 
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

allowance for obsolete inventories

Management of the Group reviews the inventory aging analysis at the end of the reporting period and 
identifies the slow-moving inventory items that are no longer suitable for use in production or sales. 
Management estimates the net realisable value for such inventories based primarily on the latest invoice 
prices and current market conditions. In addition, the Group carries out an inventory review on a product-
by-product basis at the end of each reporting period and provides necessary allowance if the net realisable 
value is estimated to be below the cost.

Allowance for obsolete inventories of approximately HK$15,390,000 (2014: HK$25,722,000) was provided 
during the year ended 30 June 2015.
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4. KeY sourCes oF esTiMaTion unCerTainTY (cont’d)

allowance for doubtful debts

The allowance for doubtful debts of the Group is based on the evaluation of collectability and aging 
analysis of the receivables and on management judgement. A considerable amount of judgment is 
required in assessing the ultimate realisation of these receivables, including the current creditworthiness 
and the past collection history of each debtor. If the financial conditions of debtors of the Group were 
to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional allowances may 
be required.

Allowance for doubtful debts for trade receivables and other receivables of approximately HK$2,548,000 
(2014: HK$1,390,000) and HK$8,963,000 (2014: nil) were made for the year ended 30 June 2015, 
respectively.

5. CaPiTal risK ManaGeMenT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going 
concern while maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity 
balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes bank borrowings as disclosed in note 
23, net of cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued 
share capital, reserves and accumulated profits.

Management of the Group reviews the capital structure regularly taking into account the cost of capital 
and the risk associated with the capital. The Group will balance its overall capital structure through 
issuance of new shares and the raise of bank borrowings or the repayment of the existing bank borrowings.

6. FinanCial insTruMenTs

Categories of financial instruments

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets
Loans and receivables (including cash and cash equivalents) 1,120,426 1,073,162

Financial liabilities
Amortised cost 219,720 219,996
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6. FinanCial insTruMenTs (cont’d)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade receivables, other receivables, structured deposits, 
bank balances and cash, trade payables and bills payable, other payables and accrued charges and bank 
borrowings. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated 
with these financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. 
Management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented 
on a timely and effective manner.

Currency risk

The Group has foreign currency sales, which expose itself to foreign currency risk. In addition, certain 
trade and other receivables, bank balances, other payables and accrued charges, and bank borrowings of 
the Group and intra-group balances are denominated in foreign currencies of the relevant group entities.

The currency risk of the Group is mainly arising from exchange rate of RMB against HK$, HK$ against 
RMB and Swiss Franc (“CHF”) against HK$.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary 
liabilities at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

assets liabilities

2015 2014 2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

HK$ 196,015 173,198 28,652 20,692
RMB 570 153 – –
CHF 10,873 5,820 959 745

Other than above, several subsidiaries of the Group have the following intra-group receivables/payables 
denominated in HK$, CHF and RMB, which are foreign currencies of the relevant group entities.

amounts due from 
group entities

amounts due  to 
group entities

2015 2014 2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

HK$ 613,887 755,525 373,870 541,169
RMB 12,681 40,565 8,816 11,542
CHF 39,644 23,548 – –

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, management monitors 
foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the 
need arise.
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6. FinanCial insTruMenTs (cont’d)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

Currency risk (cont’d)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% increase and decrease in RMB against HK$, 
HK$ against RMB and CHF against HK$. 5% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency 
risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably 
possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign 
currency denominated monetary items as well as amounts due from and to group entities where the 
denomination of the balance is in a foreign currency of the group entity. A positive number below indicates 
an increase in post-tax profit for the year where the HK$ strengthen 5% against RMB and CHF. For a 
5% weakening of the HK$ against RMB and CHF, there would be an equal and opposite impact on the 
post-tax profit for the year.

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Increase in post-tax profit for the year 17,301 15,925

In the management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent currency risk as 
the exposure at the end of the reporting period does not reflect the exposure during the year.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s fair value interest rate risk relates primarily to the fixed rate bank deposits. The Group’s cash 
flow interest rate risk relates to the bank balances as well as variable rate bank borrowings (note 23 for 
details of bank borrowings). The bank borrowings were mainly exposed to fluctuation of Hong Kong 
Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR”).

The Group has not used any interest rate swaps in order to mitigate its exposure associated with 
fluctuations relating to cash flows interest rate risk. However, the management of the Group will consider 
hedging significant interest rate exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

In the opinion of management of the Group, the expected change in interest rate on bank balances will 
not be significant in the near future, hence sensitivity analysis is not presented.

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates at the end 
of the reporting period. For variable rate bank borrowings, the analysis is prepared assuming the amount 
of liability outstanding at the end of the reporting period was outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis 
points increase or decrease is used which represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible 
change in interest rates.
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6. FinanCial insTruMenTs (cont’d)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

Interest rate risk (cont’d)

Sensitivity analysis (cont’d)

If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the 
impact on the Group’s post-tax profit for the year ended 30 June 2015 and 2014 would be:

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Decrease/increase 128 135

In the management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the interest rate risk as the 
exposure at the end of the reporting period does not reflect the exposure during the year.

Credit risk

As at 30 June 2015, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the 
Group due to failure to discharge the obligations by counterparties is arising from the carrying amount 
of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group had no concentration of credit risk in respect of trade receivables, with exposure spread over 
a number of counterparties.

In order to minimise the credit risk, management of the Group has delegated a team responsible for 
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up 
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each 
individual debt at the end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made 
for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, management of the Group considers that the Group’s credit 
risk is significantly reduced.

The Group’s bank balances and structured deposits are deposited with banks of high credit rating and 
the Group has limited exposure to any single financial institution.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings 
assigned by international credit-rating agencies or state-owned.
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6. FinanCial insTruMenTs (cont’d)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash 
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the 
effects of unexpected fluctuations in cash flows. Management monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings 
and ensures compliance with loan covenants.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial 
liabilities based on the agreed repayment dates. The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted 
cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. 
The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating 
rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate curve at the end of the reporting period.

Weighted repayable
average on demand Total Total

effective or less than undiscounted carrying
interest rate 3 months cash flows amount

% HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

as at 30 June 2015
non-derivative financial 
 liabilities
Trade payables and bills payable n/a 112,243 112,243 112,243
Other payables and accrued 
 charges n/a 73,424 73,424 73,424
Bank borrowings 1.87 34,053 34,053 34,053

219,720 219,720 219,720

as at 30 June 2014
non-derivative financial 
 liabilities
Trade payables and bills payable N/A 122,623 122,623 122,623
Other payables and accrued 
 charges N/A 61,415 61,415 61,415
Bank borrowings 1.87 35,958 35,958 35,958

219,996 219,996 219,996
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6. FinanCial insTruMenTs (cont’d)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

Liquidity risk (cont’d)

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are included in the “Repayment on demand or less 
than 3 months” time band in the above maturity analysis. As at 30 June 2015, the aggregate carrying 
amount of these bank loans amounted to HK$34,053,000 (2014: HK$35,958,000). Taking into account 
the Group’s financial position, management does not believe that it is probable that the banks will exercise 
their discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment. Management of the Group believes that such 
bank loans of the Group will be repaid after the end of reporting period in accordance with the scheduled 
repayment dates set out in the loan agreements. At that time, the aggregate principal and interest cash 
outflows will amount to HK$34,078,000 (2014: HK$36,014,000).

For the purpose of managing liquidity risk, management reviews the expected cash flow information of 
the Group’s bank borrowings based on the scheduled repayment dates set out in the bank borrowings 
agreements as set out in the table below:

Weighted
average repayable Total Total

effective less than 3 – 6 undiscounted carrying
interest rate 3 months months cash flows amount

% HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Bank borrowings:
As at 30 June 2015 1.87 34,078 – 34,078 34,053

As at 30 June 2014 1.87 35,263 751 36,014 35,958

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined in accordance with generally 
accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

Management of the Group considers that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities 
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.
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7. reVenue anD seGMenT inForMaTion

For management purpose, the Group is currently organised into four operating divisions:

a. Manufacturing, trading of own branded and retailing business of watches – Tian Wang Watch 
(“Tian Wang Watch Business”);

b. Trading of own branded and retailing business of watches – Balco Watch (“Balco Watch Business”);

c. Trading of watch movements (“Watch Movements Trading Business”); and

d. Retailing business of imported watches mainly of well-known brands (“Other Brands”).

These operating divisions are the basis of internal reports about components which are regularly reviewed 
by the chief operating decision maker, the chief executive officer of the Company, for the purposes 
of resources allocation and assessing their performance. Each of the operating division represents an 
operating segment.

segment revenue and results

Year ended 30 June 2015

Tian Wang 
Watch 

Business

Balco 
Watch 

Business

Watch 
Movements 

Trading 
Business

other 
Brands Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

revenue
External sales 1,909,829 205,981 210,165 326,650 2,652,625
Inter-segment sales – – 50,050 – 50,050

Segment revenue 1,909,829 205,981 260,215 326,650 2,702,675

Elimination (50,050)

Group revenue 2,652,625

results
Segment results 506,195 1,922 3,493 2,246 513,856

Interest income 12,566
Central administration costs (45,679)
Finance costs (632)

Profit before taxation 480,111
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7. reVenue anD seGMenT inForMaTion (cont’d)

segment revenue and results (cont’d)

Year ended 30 June 2014

Tian Wang 
Watch 

Business

Balco 
Watch 

Business

Watch 
Movements 

Trading 
Business

Other 
Brands Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

revenue
External sales 1,665,167 168,149 262,397 306,645 2,402,358
Inter-segment sales – – 96,200 – 96,200

Segment revenue 1,665,167 168,149 358,597 306,645 2,498,558

Elimination (96,200)

Group revenue 2,402,358

results
Segment results 437,739 3,700 9,131 5,287 455,857

Interest income 8,821
Central administration costs (41,586)
Finance costs (1,339)

Profit before taxation 421,753

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies 
described in note 3. Segment results represent the results of each segment without allocation of corporate 
items, including interest income, central administration costs and finance costs. This is the measure 
reported to the chief operating decision maker for the purposes of resource allocation and performance 
assessment.
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7. reVenue anD seGMenT inForMaTion (cont’d)

segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by operating segment:

as at 30 June 2015

Tian Wang 
Watch 

Business

Balco 
Watch 

Business

Watch 
Movements 

Trading 
Business

other 
Brands Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

asseTs
Segment assets 841,398 243,583 39,691 216,042 1,340,714
Structured deposits 125,100
Bank balances and cash 550,510
Deferred tax assets 25,266
Other assets 14,157

Consolidated total assets 2,055,747

liaBiliTies
Segment liabilities 109,700 34,565 22,976 42,962 210,203
Tax liabilities 53,702
Bank borrowings 34,053
Deferred tax liabilities 50,902
Other liabilities 11,036

Consolidated total liabilities 359,896
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7. reVenue anD seGMenT inForMaTion (cont’d)

segment assets and liabilities (cont’d)

As at 30 June 2014

Tian Wang 
Watch 

Business

Balco 
Watch 

Business

Watch 
Movements 

Trading 
Business

Other 
Brands Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

asseTs
Segment assets 749,400 151,966 45,360 213,342 1,160,068
Bank balances and cash 660,065
Deferred tax assets 27,295
Other assets 3,259

Consolidated total assets 1,850,687

liaBiliTies
Segment liabilities 109,796 24,994 22,109 48,959 205,858
Tax liabilities 59,434
Bank borrowings 35,958
Deferred tax liabilities 38,033
Other liabilities 8,513

Consolidated total liabilities 347,796

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and allocating resources between segments:

• all assets are allocated to operating segments, other than structured deposits, bank balances and 
cash, deferred tax assets and certain corporate assets.

• all liabilities are allocated to operating segments, other than tax liabilities, bank borrowings, 
deferred tax liabilities and certain corporate liabilities.



Time Watch Investments Limited
Annual Report 201584

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2015

7. reVenue anD seGMenT inForMaTion (cont’d)
other segment information

Year ended 30 June 2015

Tian Wang 
Watch 

Business

Balco 
Watch 

Business

Watch 
Movements 

Trading 
Business

other 
Brands unallocated Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Amounts included in the 
 measure of segment profit 
 or segment assets:

Additions of property, plant 
 and equipment 77,251 22,221 10 10,561 12,250 122,293
Depreciation of property, plant 
 and equipment 51,228 6,253 62 5,640 1,352 64,535
Loss on disposal and written-off 
 of property, plant and 
 equipment 9,784 – 1 38 – 9,823
Addition of prepaid lease payment 38,592 – – – – 38,592
Deposits paid for acquisition 
 of property, plant and 
 equipment 8,701 119 – – – 8,820
Allowance for obsolete inventories 5,470 3,783 1,500 4,637 – 15,390
Allowance for doubtful debts 982 – – 1,566 8,963 11,511

Year ended 30 June 2014

Tian Wang 
Watch 

Business

Balco 
Watch 

Business

Watch 
Movements 

Trading 
Business

Other 
Brands Unallocated Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Amounts included in the 
 measure of segment profit 
 or segment assets:

Additions of property, plant 
 and equipment 84,935 7,948 32 3,849 3,314 100,078
Depreciation of property, plant 
 and equipment 37,190 3,522 58 3,045 55 43,870
Loss on disposal and written-off 
 of property, plant and 
 equipment 6,612 – 3 38 – 6,653
Allowance for obsolete inventories 21,157 – – 4,565 – 25,722
Allowance for doubtful debts 1,361 29 – – – 1,390
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7. reVenue anD seGMenT inForMaTion (cont’d)

information about major customers

There is no single customer contributing over 10% of total revenue of the Group for the years ended 30 
June 2015 and 2014.

Geographical information

The Group’s operations are located in the PRC and Hong Kong. The Group’s revenue from external 
customers based on the location of the customer and information about its non-current assets by 
geographical location of the assets are detailed below:

Revenue by geographical location:

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Hong Kong and others 278,672 309,072
The PRC 2,373,953 2,093,286

2,652,625 2,402,358

Non-current assets other than deferred tax assets by geographical location:

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Hong Kong 32,077 7,397
The PRC 179,988 110,254

212,065 117,651
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8. DireCTors’ reMuneraTion

Details of the remuneration paid or payable to the Company’s directors were as follows:

Mr. Tung
Mr. Tung 

Wai Kit
Mr. Hou 

qing Hai

Mr. lo 
Wing 
sang

Mr. Deng 
Guang

lei
Mr. Choi 

Ho Yan

Mr. Wong 
Wing 

Keung 
Meyrick

Mr. Ma 
Ching 

nam Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(Note b) (Note c) (Note d)

For the year ended 
 30 June 2015
Fee 90 90 90 26 64 223 223 223 1,029
Salaries and allowances 3,762 735 652 542 668 – – – 6,359
Bonus (Note a) 5,000 128 313 195 571 – – – 6,207
Contributions to 
 retirement benefit 
 scheme 18 18 – 6 43 – – – 85

Total remuneration 8,870 971 1,055 769 1,346 223 223 223 13,680

Mr. Tung
Mr. Tung 

Wai Kit
Mr. Hou 

Qing Hai

Mr. Lo 
Wing 
Sang

Mr. Choi 
Ho Yan

Mr. Wong 
Wing 

Keung 
Meyrick

Mr. Ma 
Ching 

Nam Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(Note b)

For the year ended 
 30 June 2014
Fee 90 90 90 90 223 223 223 1,029
Salaries and allowances 3,645 594 568 1,560 – – – 6,367
Bonus (Note a) 5,000 113 185 263 – – – 5,561
Contributions to 
 retirement benefit 
 scheme 15 15 – 15 – – – 45

Total remuneration 8,750 812 843 1,928 223 223 223 13,002
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8. DireCTors’ reMuneraTion (cont’d)
Notes:

(a) Incentive performance bonuses were determined by the remuneration committee having regard to the 

performance of directors and the Group’s operating results.

(b) Mr. Tung is also the chief executive officer of the Group and his emoluments disclosed above included those 

for services rendered by him as the chief executive officer. Based on the service contract entered into between 

Mr. Tung and the Company on 1 July 2012 for his appointment as the chief executive officer of the Group, 

Mr. Tung is only entitled to discretionary performance bonus with effect from 1 July 2013.

(c) Mr. Lo Wing Sang resigned on 15 October 2014.

(d) Mr. Deng Guang Lei was appointed on 15 October 2014.

During the years ended 30 June 2015 and 2014, no remuneration was paid by the Group to the directors 
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. None of the 
directors has waived any remuneration in both years.
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9. eMPloYees’ eMoluMenTs

The five highest paid individuals include three directors of the Company for the year ended 30 June 2015 
(2014: two). The emoluments of the remaining two individuals for the year ended 30 June 2015 (2014: 
three) are as follows:

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries and other benefits 2,846 3,959
Contributions to retirement benefit scheme 36 122

2,882 4,081

The emoluments of the individuals with the highest emoluments are within the following bands:

2015 2014
number of 
individuals

Number of 
individuals

Nil to HK$1,000,000 – 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1 –
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 – 1

During the years ended 30 June 2015 and 2014, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the five 
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group.
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10. oTHer inCoMe, Gains anD losses

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Bank interest income 12,566 8,821
Allowance for doubtful debts (11,511) (1,390)
Loss on disposal and written-off of property, 
 plant and equipment (9,823) (6,653)
Watch repair and maintenance services income 5,603 4,563
Net exchange loss (358) (1,984)
Government subsidies (Note) 1,140 6,157
Others 8,601 6,120

6,218 15,634

Note: The amount represents (i) government subsidies from local finance bureau which are calculated by reference 

to the amount of tax paid and certain conditions in accordance with the rules and regulations issued by the 

local government; and (ii) unconditional government grants for the reimbursement of expenses incurred for 

research and development activities in the PRC.

11. FinanCe CosTs

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

The finance costs represent interests on:

Borrowings wholly repayable within five years 632 1,339
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12. inCoMe Tax

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Current tax:
 Hong Kong Profits Tax 1,635 2,391
 PRC Enterprise Income Tax 125,905 102,290
 PRC withholding tax 5,704 12,019

133,244 116,700

(Overprovision) underprovision in prior years:
 Hong Kong Profits Tax (423) (308)
 PRC Enterprise Income Tax 192 (1,911)

133,013 114,481
Deferred taxation (note 25) 14,898 (7,792)

147,911 106,689

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profits for both years.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of EIT 
Law, the Enterprise Income Tax rate is 25%. Subject to certain preferential tax treatment, the applicable 
tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is ranging from 15% to 25% for the year ended 30 June 2014. Taxation 
arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

Dividends distributed from the PRC subsidiaries are subject to withholding tax at 5% to 10%. Deferred 
tax in relation to withholding income tax for the undistributed profits of the PRC subsidiaries have been 
provided. Details of the movement of the deferred tax recognised in respect to withholding income tax 
for the undistributed profits are set out in note 25.
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12. inCoMe Tax (cont’d)

The tax charge for the years can be reconciled to the profit before taxation as follows:

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit before taxation 480,111 421,753

Tax at the PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate of 25% 120,028 105,438
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purpose 12,178 6,259
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose (8,106) (2,051)
Income tax on concession and preferential tax rates (575) (23,625)
Tax effect of tax loss not recognised 11,429 8,530
Overprovision in prior years (231) (2,219)
Additional tax benefit to the Group (Note) (5,224) (4,202)
Withholding tax for distributable earnings of PRC subsidiaries 18,412 18,559

Tax charge for the year 147,911 106,689

Note: Pursuant to the relevant tax rules and regulation, expenses in research nature are deductible at 150% of the 

cost incurred. The related tax benefit amounted to HK$5,224,000 for the year ended 30 June 2015 (2014: 

HK$4,202,000).
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13. ProFiT For THe Year

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging:

Auditor’s remuneration 1,990 1,837
Directors’ remuneration (note 8)

 Fees 1,029 1,029
 Other emoluments 12,566 11,928
 Retirement benefits scheme contributions 85 45

13,680 13,002
Other staff costs 330,825 275,392
Retirement benefits scheme contributions 41,480 34,192

Total staff costs 385,985 322,586

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 64,535 43,870
Cost of inventories recognised as cost of sales 785,022 777,417
Research and development cost recognised as cost of sales 44,808 37,906
Allowance for obsolete inventories recognised as cost of sales 15,390 25,722
Concessionaire fee (Note) 556,194 485,553
Operating lease payment in respect of shop counters and 
 shops 31,969 34,893
Operating lease payment for office premises and factories 9,501 8,255

Note: Certain shop counters of the Group paid concessionaire fee to department stores based on monthly sales 

recognised by these shop counters pursuant to the terms and conditions as set out in the respective agreements 

signed with individual department stores.
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14. DiViDenDs
2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$’000

Dividends recognised as distribution during the year:

2015 Interim – HK2 cents (2014 Interim – HK2 cents) per share 41,599 41,599
2014 Final – HK3 cents (2013 Final – HK3 cents) per share 62,398 62,398
2014 Special – HK2 cents (2013 Special – HK2 cents) per share 41,599 41,599

145,596 145,596

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final dividend in respect of the year ended 30 June 
2015 of HK3 cents per share has been proposed by the directors and is subject to the approval by the 
shareholders of the Company in the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

15. earninGs Per sHare

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share is based on the following data:

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Earnings:

Earnings for the purposes of calculating basic and 
 diluted earnings per share (profit for the 
 year attributable to owners of the Company) 336,755 309,890

’000 ’000

Number of shares:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the 
 purposes of calculating basic and diluted earnings per share 2,079,946 2,079,946

No diluted earnings per share is presented as there is no potential ordinary share outstanding for both 
years.
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16. ProPerTY, PlanT anD equiPMenT

leasehold Furniture
land and leasehold and Computer Motor light
buildings improvements Machinery fixtures equipment vehicles boxes Yacht Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

CosT or ValuaTion
At 1 July 2013 – 20,952 2,859 2,214 6,607 15,005 95,413 – 143,050
Exchange adjustments – (344) (62) (36) (139) (174) (2,440) – (3,195)
Additions – 4,450 1,297 567 3,507 6,061 84,196 – 100,078
Disposals and written-off – (2,579) – (13) (60) (305) (17,269) – (20,226)

At 30 June 2014 – 22,479 4,094 2,732 9,915 20,587 159,900 – 219,707
Exchange adjustments – 93 18 10 36 53 688 – 898
Additions 11,515 11,658 669 1,022 5,661 1,422 78,096 12,250 122,293
Disposals and written-off – – – (83) (51) (169) (26,079) – (26,382)

At 30 June 2015 11,515 34,230 4,781 3,681 15,561 21,893 212,605 12,250 316,516

Comprising:
 At cost – 34,230 4,781 3,681 15,561 21,893 212,605 12,250 305,001
 At valuation 11,515 – – – – – – – 11,515

11,515 34,230 4,781 3,681 15,561 21,893 212,605 12,250 316,516

DePreCiaTion
At 1 July 2013 – 15,151 1,264 1,285 2,662 6,847 45,973 – 73,182
Exchange adjustments – (268) (27) (22) (77) (89) (1,029) – (1,512)
Provided for the year – 4,551 548 249 2,724 1,976 33,822 – 43,870
Eliminated on disposals 
 and written-off – (2,468) – (2) (23) (274) (10,717) – (13,484)

At 30 June 2014 – 16,966 1,785 1,510 5,286 8,460 68,049 – 102,056
Exchange adjustments – 76 8 6 20 25 269 – 404
Provided for the year – 5,599 671 394 3,516 2,680 50,654 1,021 64,535
Eliminated on disposals 
 and written-off – – – (40) (32) (152) (16,267) – (16,491)

At 30 June 2015 – 22,641 2,464 1,870 8,790 11,013 102,705 1,021 150,504

CarrYinG Values
At 30 June 2015 11,515 11,589 2,317 1,811 6,771 10,880 109,900 11,229 166,012

At 30 June 2014 – 5,513 2,309 1,222 4,629 12,127 91,851 – 117,651
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16. ProPerTY, PlanT anD equiPMenT (cont’d)

Depreciation is charged to write off the cost of property, plant and equipment less residual value, if any, 
on a straight-line basis, at the following rates per annum:

Leasehold land and buildings Shorter of 3% and over the lease terms
Leasehold improvements Shorter of 10% – 20% and over the lease terms
Machinery 10% – 20%
Furniture and fixtures 10% – 33%
Computer equipment 33%
Motor vehicles 10% – 33%
Light boxes 33%
Yacht 10%

The Group’s interests in leasehold land and buildings that are situated in Hong Kong are held under 
medium-term lease. The leasehold interest in land cannot be allocated reliably between the land and 
buildings elements and is accounted for as property, plant and equipment.

Fair value measurement of the Group’s land and buildings

At 30 June 2015, the fair value of the Group’s leasehold land and buildings in Hong Kong was valued by 
the directors using direct comparison method.

The fair value of the leasehold land and buildings located in Hong Kong has been determined based on 
the market comparable approach that reflects recent transaction prices for similar properties, adjusted 
for differences in the location and conditions of the properties under review. In estimating the fair value 
of the properties, the highest and best use of the properties is their current use.

The Group’s land and buildings at revalued amounts are categorised into level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

The following table shows the valuation techniques used in the determination of fair values and 
unobservable inputs used in the valuation models.

Description Fair value Valuation techniques unobservable inputs significant inputs
relationship of 
inputs to fair value

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Land and buildings 
 in Hong Kong

11,515 – Comparison approach Market price 
 per square feet

Adjusted price of HK$4,615 
 (2014: nil) per square feet 
 in average

The higher the market price, 
 the higher the fair value

Had the leasehold land and buildings at 30 June 2015 been carried at cost less accumulated depreciation 
and accumulated impairment losses, its carrying value would have been HK$11,515,000.
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17. PrePaiD lease PaYMenT

The Group’s prepaid lease payment comprises leasehold interest in a land in the PRC with medium-term 
lease and released over the term of lease of 30 years. The Group is in the process of obtaining the land 
use right certificate.

The amount is analysed for reporting purpose as:

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Current asset 1,284 –
Non-current asset 37,247 –

38,531 –

18. inVenTories

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Raw materials and consumables 87,779 59,242
Work in progress 12,589 12,816
Finished goods 515,084 483,903

615,452 555,961

19. TraDe anD oTHer reCeiVaBles

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade receivables from third parties 402,925 389,499
Trade receivable from a fellow subsidiary – 2,660
Trade receivables from related companies 9,272 704
Less: allowance for doubtful debts (1,346) (1,342)

410,851 391,521
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments 115,219 98,194

Total trade and other receivables 526,070 489,715
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19. TraDe anD oTHer reCeiVaBles (cont’d)

Trade receivables from third parties mainly represent receivables from department stores in relation to the 
collection of sales proceeds from concessionaire sales of merchandise to customers. The average credit 
period granted to the department stores is 60 days. The Group did not have a credit period policy to its 
related party customers and the related party customers normally settled trade receivables within three 
months.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables from third parties net of allowance for doubtful 
debts presented based on the date of delivery of goods, which approximates to the respective date of 
revenue recognition, at the end of the reporting period:

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

0 to 60 days 334,903 340,821
61 to 120 days 44,592 29,172
121 to 180 days 10,677 13,366
Over 180 days 11,407 4,798

401,579 388,157

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivable from a fellow subsidiary presented based on the 
date of delivery of goods, which approximates to the respective date of revenue recognition, at the end 
of the reporting period:

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

0 to 60 days – 1,913
61 to 120 days – 747

– 2,660
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19. TraDe anD oTHer reCeiVaBles (cont’d)

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables from related companies (in which Mr. Tung has 
control) presented based on the date of delivery of goods, which approximates to the respective date of 
revenue recognition, at the end of the reporting period:

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

0 to 60 days 9,272 698
61 to 120 days – 6

9,272 704

As at 30 June 2015, included in the Group’s trade receivables were debtors with a carrying amount of 
HK$66,676,000 (2014: HK$47,336,000), which were past due at the end of the reporting period for 
which the Group did not provide for impairment loss as there were subsequent settlement or no historical 
default of payments by the respective customers and the amounts are still considered recoverable. The 
Group does not hold any collateral over these balances. The average age of these receivables as at 30 
June 2015 is 115 days (2014: 114 days).

aging of trade receivables from third parties past due but not impaired

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

61 to 120 days 44,592 29,172
121 to 180 days 10,677 13,366
Over 180 days 11,407 4,798

66,676 47,336

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Balance at beginning of the year 1,342 433
Exchange adjustments 4 (16)
Allowance for doubtful debts 2,548 1,390
Amounts written off as uncollectible (2,548) (465)

Balance at end of the year 1,346 1,342
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19. TraDe anD oTHer reCeiVaBles (cont’d)

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts (cont’d)

Included in the allowance for doubtful debts are impaired trade receivables with a balance of 
HK$2,548,000 (2014: HK$1,390,000) which were past due and considered not recoverable.

The concentration of credit risk is limited due to the customer base being large and unrelated. 
Management of the Group believes that there is no further credit provision required in excess of the 
allowance for doubtful debts.

The trade and other receivables that are denominated in foreign currencies of the relevant group entities 
are set out below:

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

CHF 9,500 4,554
HK$ 519 540

20. sTruCTureD DePosiTs

The structured deposits are interest rate-linked principal protected deposits entered with a bank in the 
PRC with maturity less than one year. The counterparty bank guaranteed 100% of the invested capital and 
the returns of which are determined by reference to the fluctuation of London Interbank Offered Rate of 
United States dollars’ bank deposits and the effective interest rate of these deposits is 4.3% per annum.

21. BanK BalanCes anD CasH

Bank balances and cash comprise cash and short-term deposits with original maturity of three months or 
less and carrying interest at average market rates of 0.9% (2014: 1.2%) per annum.

At 30 June 2015, the bank balances and cash of HK$326,391,000 (2014: HK$462,084,000) are 
denominated in RMB, which are not freely convertible into other currencies.

Bank balances and cash that are denominated in foreign currencies of the relevant group entities are set 
out below:

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

HK$ 195,496 172,658
CHF 1,373 1,266
RMB 570 153
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22. TraDe PaYaBles anD Bills PaYaBle, oTHer PaYaBles anD aCCrueD 
CHarGes

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade payables and bills payable:
Trade payables 96,341 109,264
Bills payable 8,557 3,067
Trade payables to entities owned by non-controlling
 shareholders of subsidiaries 7,345 10,292

112,243 122,623

Other payables and accrued charges:
Other tax payables 35,572 30,333
Accrued directors’ remuneration 6,003 6,029
Accrued advertising expenses 881 1,601
Accrued staff related costs 13,569 11,631
Other payables and accrued charges 49,218 38,419
Amount due to a non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary 3,753 3,735

108,996 91,748

221,239 214,371

The average credit period on purchases of goods is 30 to 60 days. The following is an aged analysis of 
trade payables presented based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

0 – 30 days 50,871 63,966
31 – 60 days 16,866 20,686
61 – 90 days 6,047 9,249
Over 90 days 22,557 15,363

96,341 109,264



Time Watch Investments Limited
Annual Report 2015 101

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2015

22. TraDe PaYaBles anD Bills PaYaBle, oTHer PaYaBles anD aCCrueD 
CHarGes (cont’d)

The entities owned by non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries did not have a specified credit period 
policy granting to the Group and the Group normally settled trade payables within three months. The 
following is an aged analysis of trade payables to entities owned by non-controlling shareholders of 
subsidiaries based on invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

0 – 60 days – 10,108
Over 90 days 7,345 184

7,345 10,292

Bills payable at the end of the reporting period is aged within 30 days based on goods receipt date.

Amount due to a non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary is unsecured, interest-free and repayable 
on demand.

The other payables and accrued charges that are denominated in foreign currency of the relevant group 
entities are set out below:

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

HK$ 28,652 20,692
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23. BanK BorroWinGs

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Trust receipts loans 34,053 27,958
Bank loans – 8,000

34,053 35,958

The trust receipts loans and bank loans are unsecured and repayable on demand and within one year.

The bank borrowings that are denominated in foreign currency of the relevant group entities are set out 
below:

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

CHF 959 745

Trust receipts loans and bank loans are arranged at floating rates at interest rates ranging from HIBOR 
plus 1.25% to 1.75% (2014: 1.25% to 2.00%), and the average interest rate is approximately 1.87% 
per annum as at 30 June 2015 (2014: 1.87% per annum). Thus the Group exposes to cash flow interest 
rate risk.

24. sHare CaPiTal

number 
of shares

share 
capital

’000 HK$’000

Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each

Authorised:

At 1 July 2013, 30 June 2014 and 2015 100,000,000 10,000,000

Issued:

At 1 July 2013, 30 June 2014 and 2015 2,079,946 207,995

All the shares issued rank pari passu with the existing shares in all respects.
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25. DeFerreD TaxaTion

The following are the major deferred tax (assets) liabilities recognised and movements during the year:

allowance 
for 

obsolete 
inventories

unrealised 
profit

accelerated 
tax 

depreciation

Withholding 
tax arising 

from PrC 
subsidiaries Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 July 2013 (7,207) (4,816) 533 30,020 18,530
(Credited) charged to profit or loss (8,635) (6,637) 940 6,540 (7,792)

At 30 June 2014 (15,842) (11,453) 1,473 36,560 10,738
(Credited) charged to profit or loss (1,897) 3,926 160 12,709 14,898

At 30 June 2015 (17,739) (7,527) 1,633 49,269 25,636

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of financial position, the following is the 
analysis of the deferred taxation.

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Deferred tax assets 25,266 27,295

Deferred tax liabilities 50,902 38,033

The Group had unused tax losses of approximately HK$133,878,000 as at 30 June 2015 (2014: 
HK$88,162,000). No deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect of the unused tax losses due to 
the unpredictability of future profit streams. The tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.
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26. CoMMiTMenTs
a. operating lease commitments

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments for future minimum lease 
payments under non-cancellable operating leases falling due as follows:

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 21,295 23,731
In the second to fifth year inclusive 18,166 12,802
Over five years 4,347 –

43,808 36,533

The Group leases its office premises, factories, shops and shop counters under operating lease 
arrangements. Leases for office premises, factories, shops and shop counters are negotiated for 
fixed terms ranged from 2 to 6 years.

b. Concessionaire fee commitments

Certain shop counters of the Group paid concessionaire fee to department stores based on monthly 
sales recognised by these shop counters pursuant to the terms and conditions as set out in the 
respective agreements signed with individual department stores. In the opinion of the directors 
of the Company, as the future sales of these shop counters could not be estimated reliably, the 
concessionaire fee commitments has not been quantified and presented.

27. reTireMenT BeneFiTs sCHeMes
The Group operates defined contribution retirement benefits plans for all qualifying employees in Hong 
Kong. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employee’s basic salary with a cap of 
HK$1,250 per month before 1 June 2014 and HK$1,500 per month thereafter, and charged to profit or 
loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of MPF Scheme. The assets of the plans are 
held separately from those of the Group in funds under the control of trustees.

The Group’s PRC subsidiaries and a Swiss subsidiary are required to make contributions to the state-
managed retirement schemes operated by respective local governments based on certain percentage 
of the monthly salaries of their current employees to fund the benefits. The employees are entitled to 
retirement pension calculated with reference to their basic salaries on retirement and their length of 
service in accordance with the relevant government regulations. The only obligation of these subsidiaries 
with respect to the state-managed schemes is to make the specified contributions.

As at 30 June 2015 and 2014, there were no outstanding contributions payable to the schemes.

28. sHare oPTion sCHeMe
On 11 January 2013, the Company conditionally adopted a share option scheme pursuant to a resolution 
passed by its sole shareholder on 11 January 2013, where eligible employees and directors of the Group, 
among others, may be granted options entitling them to subscribe for the Company’s shares. The adoption 
of the share option scheme became unconditional upon the listing of the Company on 5 February 2013. 
No share option has been granted since the adoption of the scheme.
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29. relaTeD ParTY TransaCTions
Other than trade receivables from a fellow subsidiary and related companies and trade payables to entities 
owned by non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries as disclosed in notes 19 and 22, respectively, the 
Group had the following related party transactions during the year:

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Sales to a related company (Note d & e) 27,511 24,129

Sales to a related company (Note a & e) 4,336 4,677

Sales to an entity controlled by a non-controlling 
 shareholder of a subsidiary 1,338 –

Sales commission paid/payable to a related company (Note d) 359 950

Purchases from entities owned by non-controlling 
 shareholders of subsidiaries 10,033 26,722

Rental expense paid/payable to a related 
 company (Note b & e) 132 114

Rental expense paid/payable to 
 a related company (Note d & e) 4,080 4,080

Service fee paid/payable to non-controlling 
 shareholders of subsidiaries – 5,070

Refund of service fee received/receivable from 
 non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries 3,757 –

Royalty income received/receivable from a 
 non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary 860 –

Promotion fee paid/payable to a fellow subsidiary – 496

Promotion fee paid/payable to a related company (Note c) 120 335

Consultancy fee paid/payable to a fellow subsidiary – 420

Consultancy fee paid/payable to a related company (Note c) 180 360

Dividends paid/payable to non-controlling 
 shareholders of subsidiaries 4,257 3,097
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29. relaTeD ParTY TransaCTions (cont’d)
Notes:

(a) The amount represented the sales of watches to a related company in which Mr. Tung has control.

(b) The related company is wholly owned and controlled by Mr. Tung.

(c) The amounts represented promotion fee and consultancy fee paid to a related company in which Mr. Tung has 

control.

(d) The relationship with these entities changed from fellow subsidiaries to related companies. These entities were 

wholly owned and controlled by Mr. Tung during the year.

(e) The related party transactions are also defined as continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules.

Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors and other members of key management were as follows:

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Short-term benefits 17,136 18,157
Post-employment benefits 165 224

17,301 18,381

The remuneration of key management is determined by the remuneration committee having regard to 
the performance of individuals and market trends.
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30. ParTiCulars oF suBsiDiaries

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

name of subsidiary

Country/
place of 
incorporation/
establishment

Country/
Place of 
operation

issued and 
fully paid 

share capital/
registered 

capital

attributable equity 
interest of the Group 

as at 30 June

Principal activities2015 2014

Directly:
Immense Ocean Investments Limited BVI Hong Kong 1 share of US$1 100% 100% Investment holding

indirectly:
Win Source Trading Limited
偉鑫貿易有限公司

Hong Kong Hong Kong 1 share of HK$1 100% 100% Trading of watch 
 movements

Win Sun International Limited
捷新國際有限公司

Hong Kong Hong Kong 1 share of HK$1 100% 100% Trading of watches

Gold Joy Investments Limited
金愉投資有限公司

Hong Kong Hong Kong 1 share of HK$1 100% 100% Investment holding

Sky Sun Investments Limited
天新投資有限公司

Hong Kong Hong Kong 1 share of HK$1 100% 100% Investment holding

Gold Reach Investments Limited
金達投資有限公司

Hong Kong Hong Kong 1 share of HK$1 100% 100% Investment holding

Top World Trading Limited
上華貿易有限公司

Hong Kong Hong Kong 1 share of HK$1 100% 100% Trading of watch parts

Ye Guang Li Electronics (Meizhou) 
 Company Limited1

業廣利電子（梅州）有限公司

PRC PRC HK$3,880,000 100% 100% Assembling and trading 
 of watches

Suzhou Paragon Watch 
 Company Limited2

蘇州寶利辰表行有限公司

PRC PRC RMB20,000,000 51% 51% Sales of watches

Tian Wang Electronics (Shenzhen) 
 Company Limited1

天王電子（深圳）有限公司

PRC PRC HK$99,000,000 100% 100% Assembling and trading 
 of own branded 
 watches

Time Watch (Hefei) Timepieces 
 Company Limited2

時計寶（合肥）鐘表有限公司

PRC PRC RMB14,000,000 51% 51% Sales of watches

Time Watch (Shanghai) Timepieces 
 Company Limited2

時計寶（上海）鐘表有限公司

PRC PRC RMB14,000,000 51% 51% Sales of watches

Balco Switzerland SAGL Switzerland Switzerland 20 shares of 
CHF1,000 each

100% 100% Sales of watches
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name of subsidiary

Country/
place of 
incorporation/
establishment

Country/
Place of 
operation

issued and 
fully paid 

share capital/
registered 

capital

attributable equity 
interest of the Group 

as at 30 June

Principal activities2015 2014

Shenzhen Time Watch Management 
 Consulting Limited3

深圳時計寶管理諮詢有限公司

PRC PRC RMB6,000,000 100% 100% Marketing and 
 consulting

Time Watch (Sichuan) Company 
 Limited (“Time Watch Sichuan”)2

時計寶（四川）鐘表有限公司

PRC PRC RMB20,000,000
(Note)

51% 51% Sales of watches

Shenzhen Time Watch Trading 
 Company Limited3

深圳時計寶商貿有限公司

PRC PRC RMB5,000,000 70% 70% Sales of watches

Time Watch (Chengdu) 
 Company Limited2

時計寶（成都）鐘表有限公司

PRC PRC RMB20,000,000 51% 51% Sales of watches

Zhengzhou Time Watch 
 Company Limited2

鄭州時計寶鐘表有限公司

PRC PRC RMB20,000,000 51% 51% Sales of watches

Shenzhen Half Hour Trade and 
 Commercial Limited3

深圳市半小時商貿有限公司

PRC PRC RMB1,000,000 70% – Sales of watches

Shenzhen Yi  Cun Jin Technology 
 Co., Limited3

深圳市壹寸金科技有限公司

PRC PRC RMB1,000,000 70% – Sales of watches

1 Established in the PRC in the form of wholly foreign-owned enterprise.
2 Established in the PRC in the form of sino-foreign equity joint venture.
3 Established in the PRC in the form of domestic-invested enterprise.

Note: As at 30 June 2015, capital contribution from non-controlling shareholder of Time Watch Sichuan of 

HK$3,628,000 (2014: HK$3,611,000) has not been received.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting at the end of the year or at any time during 
the year.

In the opinion of the directors, the Group has no material non-controlling interests and the summarised 
financial information about these subsidiaries is not disclosed.

30. ParTiCulars oF suBsiDiaries (cont’d)
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31. THe sTaTeMenT oF FinanCial PosiTion oF THe CoMPanY

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets
 Unlisted investments in subsidiaries, at cost 132,477 132,149
 Amounts due from subsidiaries 478,621 407,846

611,098 539,995

Current assets
 Other receivables 113 24
 Amounts due from subsidiaries 16,820 131,820
 Bank balances 174,940 157,483
 Dividend receivable from a subsidiary – 58,700

191,873 348,027

Current liabilities
 Accrued charges 1,029 1,029
 Amounts due to subsidiaries 3,100 –

4,129 1,029

Net current assets 187,744 346,998

Total assets less current liabilities 798,842 886,993

Capital and reserves
 Share capital 207,995 207,995
 Reserves 590,847 678,998

Total equity 798,842 886,993
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31. THe sTaTeMenT oF FinanCial PosiTion oF THe CoMPanY (cont’d)

reserves of the Company

share Translation accumulated
premium reserve profits Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 July 2013 534,101 15,710 66,240 616,051
Profit and comprehensive (expense) 
 income for the year – (15,343) 223,886 208,543
Dividend recognised as distribution 
 during the year (note 14) (23,000) – (122,596) (145,596)

At 30 June 2014 511,101 367 167,530 678,998
Profit and comprehensive 
 income for the year – 5,430 52,015 57,445
Dividend recognised as distribution 
 during the year (note 14) – – (145,596) (145,596)

At 30 June 2015 511,101 5,797 73,949 590,847
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A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five years, as extracted from 
the published audited financial information and consolidated financial statements, is set out below.

For the year ended 30 June
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

results
Revenue 2,652,625 2,402,358 1,912,235 1,524,779 1,189,325

Profit for the year attributable
 to owners of the Company 336,755 309,890 213,551 184,093 134,603

at 30 June
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

assets and liabilities
Total assets 2,055,747 1,850,687 1,620,275 972,423 940,721
Total liabilities (359,896) (347,796) (287,827) (557,475) (472,293)

1,695,851 1,502,891 1,332,448 414,948 468,428

Equity attributable to the owners 
 of the Company 1,630,147 1,434,770 1,286,488 377,119 452,015
Non-controlling interests 65,704 68,121 45,960 37,829 16,413

1,695,851 1,502,891 1,332,448 414,948 468,428

Note: The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 21 September 2011 and the consolidated statement of profit 

or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement 

of cash flows of the Group for the years ended 30 June 2011 and 2012 have been prepared as if the current group 

structure had been in existence throughout the year, or since the respective dates of incorporation or establishment, 

where this is a shorter period.

 The financial information for the years ended 30 June 2013, 2014 and 2015 is extracted from the consolidated financial 

statements in the annual report for the year ended 30 June 2014.

 The financial data of the Company for the years ended 30 June 2011 and 2012 and information as to its financial 

position as at 30 June 2011 and 2012 are extracted from the Company’s prospectus dated 24 January 2013.
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BoarD oF DireCTors
executive Directors

Mr. Tung Koon Ming
 (Chairman and chief executive officer)
Mr. Lo Wing Sang 
 (resigned with effect from 15 October 2014)
Mr. Hou Qinghai
Mr. Tung Wai Kit
Mr. Deng Guanglei 
 (appointed with effect from 15 October 2014)

independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Ma Ching Nam
Mr. Wong Wing Keung Meyrick
Mr. Choi Ho Yan

auDiT CoMMiTTee
Mr. Choi Ho Yan (Chairman)
Mr. Ma Ching Nam
Mr. Wong Wing Keung Meyrick

noMinaTion CoMMiTTee
Mr. Tung Koon Ming (Chairman)
Mr. Ma Ching Nam
Mr. Wong Wing Keung Meyrick

reMuneraTion CoMMiTTee
Mr. Wong Wing Keung Meyrick (Chairman)
Mr. Choi Ho Yan
Mr. Ma Ching Nam

CorPoraTe GoVernanCe CoMMiTTee
Mr. Ma Ching Nam (Chairman)
Mr. Choi Ho Yan
Mr. Wong Wing Keung Meyrick

CoMPanY seCreTarY
Mr. Chen Kwok Wang 
 (resigned with effect from 2 January 2015)
Ms. Hui Wai Man, Shirley 
 (appointed with effect from 2 January 2015)

auDiTor
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
35th Floor, One Pacific Place
88 Queensway
Hong Kong

leGal aDVisers
Chiu & Partners (as to Hong Kong laws)
Jingtian & Gongcheng (as to PRC laws)

CaYMan islanDs PrinCiPal sHare
 reGisTrar
Codan Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
PO Box 2681
Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

HonG KonG BranCH sHare reGisTrar
Tricor Investor Services Limited
Level 22, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong

reGisTereD oFFiCe
Cricket Square
Hutchins Drive
PO Box 2681
Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

HeaDquarTers anD PrinCiPal PlaCe
 oF Business in HonG KonG
27th Floor, CEO Tower, 77 Wing Hong Street, Kowloon, 
Hong Kong

sToCK CoDe on THe HonG KonG
 sToCK exCHanGe
2033

inVesTor inForMaTion
For more information about the Group, please contact 
the Investor Relations Department at:

Address: 27th Floor, CEO Tower, 77 Wing Hong Street, 
Kowloon, Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2411 3567
Fax: (852) 3585 2083
Email: investor_relations@timewatch.com.hk

WeBsiTe
www.timewatch.com.hk

CorPoraTe CalenDar
Annual general meeting 24 November 2015
Payment of final dividend On or about

9 December 2015
Announcement of
 interim results for six months
 ended 31 December 2015 February 2016
Announcement of
 final results for year
 ended 30 June 2016 September 2016


	Cover
	Corporate Profile
	Contents
	Financial Highlights
	Chairman’s Statement
	Management Discussion and Analysis
	Prospects and Strategies
	Major Events
	Profile of Directors and Senior Management
	Corporate Governance Report
	Directors’ Report
	Independent Auditor’s Report
	Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
	Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
	Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
	Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
	Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
	Financial Summary
	Corporate Information

